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Plaintiffs, Macomb County Employees’ Retirement System and Firemen’s Retirement 

System of St. Louis (“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of a class of similarly situated persons 

and entities, by Plaintiffs’ undersigned attorneys, for Plaintiffs’ consolidated petition against 

Defendants, alleges the following based upon information and belief, except as to those allegations 

concerning Plaintiffs, which are alleged upon Plaintiffs’ respective personal knowledge. Plaintiffs’ 

information and belief is based upon, among other things, the investigation undertaken by Interim 

Class Counsel, Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP and Labaton Sucharow LLP, which 

included, inter alia, review and analysis of United States Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”) filings made by Venator Materials PLC (“Venator” or the “Company”) and Huntsman 

Corporation (“Huntsman Corp.”), the Company’s press releases and analyst reports, media reports 

and other publicly disclosed reports, and information about the Company. Plaintiffs believe that 

substantial additional evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a 

reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

RULE 47(D) DISCLOSURES 

Plaintiffs seek relief in excess of $1,000,000.00. 

NATURE AND SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased 

Venator ordinary shares in or traceable to the Company’s August 3, 2017 initial public offering 

and/or in its November 30, 2017 secondary offering seeking to pursue remedies under the 

Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). The Securities Act was passed by Congress in the 

hopes of restoring investor confidence after corporate scandals and the stock market crash of 1929. 

It requires that those who sell securities to the investing public do so on the basis of accurate and 

fulsome disclosures. The Securities Act provides strict liability and negligence claims for false, 
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misleading, and incomplete statements made in connection with public securities offerings in order 

to protect investors and maintain confidence in our public markets. 

2. Defendant Venator is a chemical company with headquarters in Texas and the 

United Kingdom. In 2017, Venator was spun off from Defendant Huntsman Corp. On August 3, 

2017, Venator conducted an initial public offering of its stock (the “IPO”), and then, on November 

30, 2017, a secondary public offering (the “SPO,” and, together with the IPO, the “Offerings”). In 

the Offerings, Defendants sold over $1 billion worth of Venator ordinary shares at prices as high 

as $22.50 per share. Huntsman Corp. received all of the proceeds from the Offerings. The 

Offerings’ underwriters received tens of millions of dollars in fees. The Company’s executives 

were compensated for their role in taking the Company public. And Venator received none of the 

proceeds. 

3. Venator’s primary revenue source is the production of titanium dioxide (“TiO2”). 

Titanium dioxide is a chemical pigment that provides whiteness, opacity, and brightness to 

manufactured items. For 2016, TiO2 revenues accounted for 67% of the Company’s total revenues. 

One of the Company’s largest TiO2 production facilities was located in Pori, Finland (the “Pori 

Plant”). The Pori Plant had a nameplate capacity of 130,000 metric tons of TiO2 per year, or 17% 

of the Company’s entire production capacity, making it one of the Company’s most important 

assets. 

4. In January 2017, prior to the IPO, a massive fire ravaged the Pori Plant. The fire 

was sparked in the Pori Plant’s electrostatic precipitator in its central building, and then spread 

throughout the plant’s pipe network and manufacturing halls. Pipes made of flammable materials 

spread the fire throughout the Pori Plant, as the blaze reached the roof of the central building, 

ignited lower floors with falling debris, and spread through pipes to surrounding buildings. As the 
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fire grew in size and intensity, a series of explosions shot molten metal, glass fibers, and plastics 

into the air and onto surrounding structures as pressure vessels burst due to the extreme heat and 

smoke plumes filled the sky. The Pori Plant fire was so massive that it took more than 150 

firefighters 20 hours to bring it under control and pockets of fire still smoldered in the plant’s walls 

a week later.  

5. While the fact that the fire occurred was known to potential investors, the 

devastating extent of the disaster and the irreparable damage to the facility that it had caused was 

not. The fire had destroyed the Pori Plant’s central facility, and the damage from fire, smoke, 

water, soot, and ash had rendered surrounding buildings and the infrastructural components of the 

plant (such as its electrical network) inoperable and beyond repair. The destruction was nearly 

total. As a result of the fire, Venator had lost, essentially without prospect of rehabilitation, 80% 

of the production capacity of the Pori Plant. As a result, the Company’s entire TiO2 nameplate 

capacity had been effectively reduced by more than 13%. The damage was so extensive that even 

hundreds of millions of dollars in repair costs and more than a year-and-a-half of effort by scores 

of specialists could not meaningfully improve the plant’s output, let alone return the Pori Plant to 

its full production capacity. Thus, months before the IPO, the Pori Plant had been largely destroyed 

and needed to be abandoned and replaced by the Company in order to maintain the Company’s 

historical levels of TiO2 production output.  

6. After the fire occurred, Huntsman Corp. did not disclose the extent of the fire 

damage or that the Pori Plant had been damaged beyond repair. Instead, Huntsman Corp. issued a 

statement that the “fire brigade responded quickly and extinguished the fire” and that it was 

“committed to repairing the facility as quickly as possible to ensure that customers can continue 

to receive the quality products offered by our Pori site.” Shortly thereafter, Huntsman Corp. 



   4 

reorganized its separation from Venator as a public offering of shares, rather than a tax-free spin-

off. In this way, Venator shares would not be distributed to Huntsman Corp.’s exiting shareholders 

(such as the executives of Huntsman Corp.) as initially planned, but instead sold to the general 

investing public. 

7. In August 2017, more than six months after the fire had occurred, Defendants 

conducted the IPO, selling more than 26 million Venator shares at $20 per share and generating 

over $522 million in gross proceeds. The IPO Registration Statement (as defined herein) failed to 

disclose the extent of the damage to the Pori Plant or the fact that it had largely been destroyed. 

Instead, the IPO Registration Statement represented that Venator had “782,000 metric tons of 

annual nameplate production capacity” despite the fact that more than 13% of this nameplate 

capacity had been permanently lost as a result of the Pori Plant fire. The IPO Registration 

Statement also stated that the property damage and resulting business interruption losses were 

being covered by insurance proceeds, thereby further minimizing any disruption to Venator’s 

business as a result of the Pori Plant fire.  

8.  A few months later, in November 2017, Defendants conducted the SPO, selling an 

additional 23.7 million Venator shares to the investing public at $22.50 per share and generating 

proceeds of over $533 million. The SPO Registration Statement (as defined herein) failed to 

disclose the extent of the damage to the Pori Plant or the fact that the plant had largely been 

destroyed. Instead, the SPO Registration Statement represented that Venator had “782,000 metric 

tons of annual nameplate production capacity,” which included the entire nameplate capacity of 

the Pori Plant. Similarly, while the SPO Registration Statement stated that Venator may exceed its 

insurance limits applicable to the fire, it blamed the increase on business interruption costs as a 

result of the favorable TiO2 price environment, rather than ballooning and economically infeasible 
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repair costs, thereby creating the impression that Venator would be even more profitable once the 

Pori Plant came back online.  

9. In the months following the SPO, Venator stated that the cost estimates to repair 

the Pori Plant were hundreds of millions of dollars greater, and the fire damage far more extensive, 

than disclosed in the IPO or SPO Registration Statements. Then, in September 2018, Venator 

announced that it was abandoning the Pori Plant entirely. At the time, the facility was still only 

operating at 20% capacity, meaning that production capacity at the facility had not increased by 

any meaningful amount since the IPO, despite Venator having received $551 million in insurance 

proceeds and incurring $247 million in CapEx and clean-up costs as of June 30, 2018.  

10. By December 17, 2018, Venator’s share price fell to $3.65 per share, 82% below 

the IPO price and 84% below the SPO price. 

DISCOVERY LEVEL 

11. Due to the complexity of the case, discovery should be conducted pursuant to a 

discovery control plan under Level 3. See Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 190.4. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. The claims alleged herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 

of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2) and 77o. 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to Section 

22 of the Securities Act and under Article V, §8 of the Texas Constitution and Tex. Gov’t Code 

§§24.007-24.008. The amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

Section 22 of the Securities Act expressly prohibits removal of this action to federal court. 

14. Defendants, and each of them, have had substantial and continuous contacts with 

Texas that make the exercise of personal jurisdiction over them proper. Defendants, and each of 

them, have minimum contacts with Texas, because they, for example, reside in Texas, are citizens 
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of Texas, have frequently traveled to Texas on business, and/or have authorized acts and actions 

which have had an impact in Texas and on members of the Class residing in Texas, including by 

conducting the Offerings from and in Texas from which the claims asserted herein arise, sufficient 

to justify the exercise of jurisdiction over them. 

15. Venue is proper in Dallas County pursuant to §15.002 of the Civil Practice & 

Remedies Code and Section 22 of the Securities Act. A substantial part of the events and omissions 

that give rise to the claims asserted herein occurred in Dallas County, including the dissemination 

of the statements herein alleged to be false and misleading into Dallas County and the purchase of 

Venator ordinary shares at prices affected by these allegedly false and misleading statements by 

members of the Class residing in Dallas County. In addition, certain of the Underwriter Defendants 

(defined below) for the Offerings have major offices located in Dallas County and certain of the 

Defendants transact business in Dallas County. 

PARTIES 

A. PLAINTIFFS 

16. Plaintiff Macomb County Employees’ Retirement System (“Macomb”) purchased 

Venator ordinary shares in and traceable to the IPO and in the SPO and was damaged thereby. 

17. Plaintiff Firemen’s Retirement System of St. Louis (“Firemen” and, together with 

Macomb, “Plaintiffs”) purchased Venator ordinary shares in and traceable to the IPO and in the 

SPO and was damaged thereby. 

B. CORPORATE DEFENDANT 

18. Defendant Venator is the issuer of the ordinary shares sold in the Offerings. The 

Company is a manufacturer and marketer of chemical products, in particular TiO2. Venator is 

incorporated under the laws of England and Wales as public limited company and operates across 

two main offices: one located at Titanium House, Hanzard Drive, Wynyard Park, Stockton-On-
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Tees, TS22 5FD, United Kingdom and the other at 10001 Woodloch Forest Drive, Suite 600, The 

Woodlands, Texas, USA 77380. By Court order, Venator is deemed to have been served with this 

petition as of the date of its filing.  

C. INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 

19. Defendant Simon Turner (“Turner”) served as President and Chief Executive 

Officer (“CEO”), and a director of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Turner 

signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. Due to the 

increased role he assumed following the IPO, the Compensation Committee of Venator’s Board 

of Directors (the “Board”) granted him supplemental equity awards with a target value of 

$800,000. Moreover, on September 11, 2017, the Board approved a transaction bonus for 

Defendant Turner in the amount of $500,000 in recognition of his significant contributions to the 

Company in connection with the IPO. Defendant Turner may be served c/o Venator Materials 

PLC, Titanium House, Hanzard Drive, Wynyard Park, Stockton-On-Tees, TS22 5FD United 

Kingdom. 

20. Defendant Kurt D. Ogden (“Ogden”) served as Senior Vice President and Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Ogden signed 

both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. Due to the increased role 

he assumed following the IPO, the Board’s Compensation Committee granted him supplemental 

equity awards with a target value of $250,000. Moreover, on September 11, 2017, the Board 

approved a transaction bonus for Defendant Ogden in the amount of $400,000 in recognition of 

his significant contributions to the Company in connection with the IPO. Defendant Ogden may 

be served c/o Venator Materials PLC, Titanium House, Hanzard Drive, Wynyard Park, Stockton-

On-Tees, TS22 5FD United Kingdom.  
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21. Defendant Stephen Ibbotson (“Ibbotson”) served as Vice President, Corporate 

Controller, and Principal Accounting Officer of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. 

Defendant Ibbotson signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration 

Statement. Defendant Ibbotson may be served c/o Venator Materials PLC, Titanium House, 

Hanzard Drive, Wynyard Park, Stockton-On-Tees, TS22 5FD United Kingdom.  

22. Defendant Russ R. Stolle (“Stolle”) served as Senior Vice President, General 

Counsel, and Chief Compliance Officer (“CCO”) of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. 

Defendant Stolle signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. 

Due to the increased role he assumed following the IPO, the Board’s Compensation Committee 

granted him supplemental equity awards with a target value of $200,000. Moreover, on September 

11, 2017, the Board approved a transaction bonus for Defendant Stolle in the amount of $400,000 

in recognition of his significant contributions to the Company in connection with the IPO. 

Defendant Stolle may be served at 2 Hampton Place, Spring, Texas 77381. 

23. The Defendants identified in ¶¶ 19-22 are referred to herein as the “Individual 

Defendants.” Each of the Individual Defendants signed the IPO Registration Statement and the 

SPO Registration Statement. In addition, as directors and/or executive officers of the Company, 

the Individual Defendants participated in the solicitation and sale of Venator shares to investors in 

the IPO and the SPO for their own benefit, the benefit of Venator, and the benefit of Huntsman 

Corp. and its affiliates. The Individual Defendants reviewed, edited, and approved the IPO 

Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement as well as the IPO’s roadshow 

PowerPoint presentation, talking points, and script. Further, Defendant Turner and Defendant 

Ogden co-presented Venator’s roadshow presentation along with Huntsman Corp.’s CEO to 
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potential investors and presented highly favorable information about the Company, its operations, 

and its financial prospects.  

D. SELLING SHAREHOLDER DEFENDANTS 

24. Defendant Huntsman (Holdings) Netherlands B.V. (“Huntsman Holdings”) is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Defendant Huntsman Corp. Huntsman Holdings sold shares offered 

in the IPO and the SPO. By Court order, Huntsman Holdings is deemed to have been served with 

this petition as of the date of its filing.  

25. Defendant Huntsman International LLC (“Huntsman International”) is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Defendant Huntsman Corp. Huntsman International sold shares offered in the 

IPO. By Court order, Huntsman International is deemed to have been served with this petition as 

of the date of its filing.  

26. Defendant Huntsman Corp. (together with Huntsman Holdings and Huntsman 

International, “Huntsman” or the “Selling Shareholder Defendants”) is a multinational 

manufacturer and marketer of chemical products for consumers and industrial customers. Venator 

was separated from Huntsman in connection with the IPO—although Huntsman controlled and 

maintains control of Venator—and Huntsman sold the shares offered in the IPO and the SPO 

through its wholly-owned subsidiaries Defendant Huntsman Holdings and Defendant Huntsman 

International. By Court order, Huntsman Corp. is deemed to have been served with this petition as 

of the date of its filing.  

27. The Defendants identified in ¶¶ 24-26 are referred to herein as the “Selling 

Shareholder Defendants.” The Selling Shareholder Defendants controlled Venator before, during, 

and immediately after both the IPO and the SPO. Prior to the IPO, the Selling Shareholder 

Defendants beneficially owned all of Venator’s ordinary shares. Following the IPO, the Selling 
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Shareholder Defendants owned approximately 75% of the Company’s shares. Following the SPO, 

the Selling Shareholder Defendants owned approximately 53% of the Company’s shares.  

28. Both the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement stated that 

Huntsman controlled, and after the IPO and SPO continued to control, a majority of the voting 

power of Venator’s ordinary shares and that Venator was a “controlled company” within the 

meaning of the NYSE listing standards. Further, both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement stated that Huntsman did and does control Venator’s “business objectives 

and policies including the composition of [Venator’s] board of directors.” 

29. The Selling Shareholder Defendants selected the management and members of the 

Board prior to the IPO, many of whom were long-time Huntsman employees, and continued to 

exert control and influence over the Company throughout the relevant period and following the 

SPO. For example, (i) Defendant Turner had worked at Huntsman for 18 years, most recently 

serving as its Division President, Pigments & Additives, from November 2008 to August 2017; 

(ii) Defendant Ogden had worked at Huntsman for 13 years, most recently serving as its Vice 

President, Investor Relations and Finance, from February 2009 until August 2017; and 

(iii) Defendant Stolle had worked at Huntsman for 23 years, most recently serving as its Senior 

Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from January 2010 until August 2017. In addition, 

Huntsman Corp.’s CEO—Peter R. Huntsman—co-presented Venator’s IPO roadshow to potential 

investors. 

30. By virtue of their stock ownership and their designation of Venator’s management 

and Board, and as stated in the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, 

Huntsman controlled Venator at the time of the IPO and SPO.  
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E. UNDERWRITER DEFENDANTS 

31. Defendants Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”) served as a lead 

underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the 

Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, Citigroup was allocated 5,522,910 

shares to sell to the investing public. In the SPO, Citigroup was allocated 5,163,404 shares to sell 

to the investing public. Citigroup acted as a representative of the underwriters in the IPO and SPO. 

Citigroup conducts business in the state of Texas and Dallas, including but not limited to the sale 

and/or solicitation of Venator’s ordinary shares through the IPO and SPO. Citigroup maintains 

main offices in Dallas. By Court order, Citigroup is deemed to have been served with this petition 

as of the date of its filing.  

32. Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill Lynch”) 

served as a lead underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares 

in each of the Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, Merrill Lynch was 

allocated 3,075,850 shares to sell to the investing public. In the SPO, Merrill Lynch was allocated 

5,163,404 shares to sell to the investing public. Merrill Lynch acted as a representative of the 

underwriters in the IPO and SPO. Merrill Lynch conducts business in the state of Texas and Dallas, 

including but not limited to the sale and/or solicitation of Venator’s ordinary shares through the 

IPO and SPO. Merrill Lynch maintains main offices in Dallas. By Court order, Merrill Lynch is 

deemed to have been served with this petition as of the date of its filing.  

33. Defendant Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC (“Goldman”) served as a lead underwriter 

for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, 

receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, Goldman was allocated 5,522,910 shares to 

sell to the investing public. In the SPO, Goldman was allocated 5,163,404 shares to sell to the 

investing public. Goldman acted as a representative of the underwriters in the IPO and SPO. 
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Goldman conducts business in the state of Texas and Dallas, including but not limited to the sale 

and/or solicitation of Venator’s ordinary shares through the IPO and SPO. Goldman maintains 

main offices in Dallas. By Court order, Goldman is deemed to have been served with this petition 

as of the date of its filing.  

34. Defendant J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JP Morgan”) served as a lead underwriter 

for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, 

receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, JP Morgan was allocated 3,075,850 shares to 

sell to the investing public. In the SPO, JP Morgan was allocated 2,816,402 shares to sell to the 

investing public. JP Morgan acted as a representative of the underwriters in the IPO and SPO. JP 

Morgan conducts business in the state of Texas and Dallas, including but not limited to the sale 

and/or solicitation of Venator’s ordinary shares through the IPO and SPO. JP Morgan maintains 

main offices in Dallas. By Court order, JP Morgan is deemed to have been served with this petition 

as of the date of its filing.  

35. The Defendants referenced in ¶¶ 31-34 are collectively referred to as the 

“Underwriter Defendants.” The Underwriter Defendants are investment banking houses which 

specialize, inter alia, in underwriting public offerings of securities. They served as the 

underwriters of the IPO and SPO and shared more than $48 million in fees paid to the underwriting 

syndicate.  

36. The Underwriter Defendants determined that in return for their share of the 

Offerings’ proceeds, they were willing to merchandise Venator’s ordinary shares in the Offerings. 

The Underwriter Defendants arranged for a roadshow prior to the IPO during which they, and the 

Individual Defendants, met with potential investors and presented highly favorable information 

about the Company, its operations, and its financial prospects. 
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37. The Underwriter Defendants also demanded and obtained an agreement from 

Venator that Venator would indemnify and hold the Underwriter Defendants harmless from any 

liability under the federal securities laws. They also made certain that Venator had purchased 

millions of dollars in directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. 

38. Representatives of the Underwriter Defendants assisted Venator, the Individual 

Defendants, and Huntsman in planning the Offerings, and purportedly conducted an adequate and 

reasonable investigation into the business and operations of Venator, an undertaking known as a 

“due diligence” investigation. The due diligence investigation was required of the Underwriter 

Defendants in order to engage in the Offerings. During the course of their “due diligence,” the 

Underwriter Defendants had continual access to confidential corporate information concerning 

Venator’s operations and financial prospects. 

39. In addition to availing themselves of virtually unbridled access to internal corporate 

documents, agents of the Underwriter Defendants met with Venator’s and Huntsman’s 

management, top executives (including the Individual Defendants), and outside counsel, and 

engaged in “drafting sessions” between at the latest October 28, 2016 and December 1, 2017. 

During these sessions, understandings were reached as to: (i) the strategy to best accomplish the 

Offerings; (ii) the terms of the Offerings, including the prices at which Venator’s ordinary shares 

would be sold to the investing public; (iii) the language to be used in the IPO Registration 

Statement and SPO Registration Statement; (iv) what disclosures about Venator would made in 

the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement; and (v) what responses would be 

made to the SEC in connection with its review of the IPO Registration Statement and SPO 

Registration Statement. 
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

A. VENATOR’S TITANIUM DIOXIDE BUSINESS 

40. Venator is a self-professed leading global manufacturer and marketer of chemical 

products. Venator operates and markets its products through two business segments (i) Titanium 

Dioxide, and (ii) Performance Additives.  

41. Titanium dioxide is a white pigment used to increase white opacity and brightness 

in the formulation of paints, coatings, inks, ceramics, paper, and plastic production. Titanium 

dioxide is produced in several grades with differing properties, making them safe to utilize in air 

conditioning units, cars, and even sunscreen.  

42. Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business comprises a large majority of the Company’s 

revenues. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, Venator generated $1.604 billion 

in revenue from its Titanium Dioxide segment and only $605 million in revenue from its 

Performance Additives business. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2018, Venator 

generated $1.666 billion in revenue from its Titanium Dioxide business and only $599 million in 

revenue from its Performance Additives business. 

43. Venator’s Titanium Dioxide segment produces a broad range of TiO2 products and 

is further segmented into (i) functional or commodity grade TiO2 and (ii) specialty TiO2. Venator’s 

specialty products generally sell at a premium into specialized applications such as fibers, 

catalysts, food, pharmaceuticals, and cosmetics. Venator’s Performance Additives business is 

further segmented into (i) functional additives and (ii) color pigments.  

44. Titanium dioxide is derived from titanium bearing ores and is a white inert pigment 

that provides whiteness, opacity, and brightness. Venator engages in both sulfate and chloride 

manufacturing processes to make TiO2. Venator’s Pori Plant is a sulfate process plant.  
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45. The sulfate process is comprised of three stages. First, the ore, usually an ilmenite, 

is dissolved in sulfuric acid to form a mixture of sulfates. Any iron is removed from the solution 

so the color of the final product is not spoiled. Second, the titanyl sulfate is hydrolysed in solution 

to produce insoluble, hydrated TiO2. The final stage involves heating the solid in a calciner to 

evaporate the water and decompose the sulfuric acid in the solid. This also turns the solid into seed 

crystals which can be milled to the size needed. These crystals can be coated with another 

substance, such as aluminum oxide, to make the TiO2 mix more easily with liquids or extend the 

life of paint manufactured from them 

46. Within the Titanium Dioxide segment, Venator uses TiO2 to manufacturer both 

specialty products that sell at a premium for certain end-use applications and a broad range of more 

common functional products. Venator claims that it has an advantage over its competitors because 

it uses both sulfate and chloride manufacturing processes that give it the flexibility to tailor its 

products to a customer’s needs and that insulate Venator from price fluctuations for any particular 

feedstock.  

47. At the time of the Offerings, Venator claimed to be one of the six major producers 

of TiO2, which collectively account for approximately 60% of global TiO2 production capacity. 

Venator operated eight TiO2 manufacturing facilities that provided it with a total nameplate 

production capacity of 782,000 metric tons per year, or 11% of global TiO2 production capacity, 

placing it among the three largest global manufacturers. Venator’s earnings power is largely driven 

by TiO2, with particular leverage in the European market, where the Company is the number one 

producer. 

48. The IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement highlighted 

Venator’s leading market position and “broad range of innovative chemicals and formulations” 
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which the Company markets “to a diversified group of industrial customers through [the 

Company’s] two segments.” Venator also claimed to have a “strong track record of successfully 

implementing business transformations” which includes “optimizing [its] Titanium Dioxide and 

Performance Additives segments for the past several years.” 

49. Until 2017, Venator operated as the Pigments & Additives segment of Huntsman 

Corp. At that time, Venator was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huntsman Corp. and all of their 

outstanding shares were owned by Huntsman. 

50. On October 28, 2016, Huntsman Corp., through a subsidiary, filed a Form 10 

registration statement with the SEC that contemplated a partial spin-off its Pigments & Additives 

and Textile Effects segments to Huntsman Corp.’s stockholders. On January 17, 2017, Huntsman 

Corp. filed an Amended Form 10 registration statement and announced that it would retain its 

Textile Effects Division and only spin off its Pigments & Additives Division into a new entity 

named Venator Materials Corporation. This entity ultimately became the Company.  

B. THE PORI PLANT FIRE 

51. On January 30, 2017, a fire ravaged Venator’s (then-Huntsman Corp.’s) TiO2 

manufacturing plant in Pori, Finland. The Pori Plant was critical to Venator’s business and 

represented a material portion of the Company’s revenues. The plant had a nameplate capacity of 

130,000 metric tons per year, which represented approximately 17% of Venator’s total TiO2 

capacity, approximately 10% of total European demand, and approximately 2% of total global 

demand. Moreover, 60% of the Pori Plant produced specialty products with higher profit margins 

and 40% of the plant produced common, also known as “commoditized,” products. The specialty 

production portion accounted for 75% of the EBITDA generated by the Pori Plant. 

52. The Pori Plant is comprised of multiple buildings. The main building was primarily 

responsible for producing TiO2, which was produced by taking raw materials, breaking them 



   17 

down, and adding sulfuric acid. The sulfuric acid would then be removed to produce the final 

product of pure TiO2.  

53. On the morning of January 30, 2017, the fire began in the area of the Pori Plant’s 

electrostatic precipitator. This component, which facilitated the breakdown of raw materials to 

produce TiO2, was located in the main building. The fire then spread to the plant’s pipe network 

and manufacturing halls. As the fire grew, it reached from the roof to the ground and ignited and 

spread through gas pipes in the main building, in addition to the pipes leading to the adjacent power 

plant building. These pipes were made of flammable material that fed and exacerbated the blaze. 

As the roof had no fire stops, flames grew to consume the entire breadth of the building in minutes, 

covering a roof area of approximately 15,000 square meters. Extensive damage was sustained in 

the chemical filter pools, portable filtration units, and sieves that were necessary to the TiO2 

production process. Dozens of tanks and pools used in TiO2 production were also damaged, and 

the gas scrubber system and electrostatic precipitators were destroyed.  

54. The interior of the plant was wracked by a series of explosions, as pressure vessels 

burst due to the extreme heat, and billowing smoke plumes filled the air. Falling pieces of burning 

metal, plastics, and molten glass fibers seeded destruction on lower floors. The smoke from the 

fire and explosions was so thick with soot and ash that the local rescue service issued an emergency 

population warning that lasted over five hours. 

55. The breadth and magnitude of the fire made it extremely difficult to extinguish. By 

the time firefighters arrived, the blaze had spread and grown in force such that the first attempts to 

extinguish the fire failed. As reinforcements arrived, the fire continued to grow in size and intensity 

and soon the entire location was engulfed in flames and industrial wreckage. A total of 89 rescue 

units were alerted to the rescue operations supported by an estimated staff of 300. Ultimately, it 
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would take over 150 firefighters, working with helicopter support, 20 hours to bring the fire under 

control. Pockets of fire would continue to be detected smoldering in the wall structures of the Pori 

Plant one week after the initial blaze.  

56. The middle of the factory, where the fire originated, was completely destroyed. 

Hundreds of tanks and pools critical to the TiO2 production process were damaged, as was the gas 

scrubber and the electrostatic precipitators on the roof necessary to the calcination process. 

However, the extent of the fire damage extended far beyond the immediate fire zone. Due to the 

blanket of industrial smoke and fallout from the explosions that had occurred, large swaths of the 

entire plant facility had been destroyed, including infrastructural components such as the plant’s 

electrical networks and filter system which could not be economically repaired or replaced without 

replacing the entire facility. This damage was exacerbated in subsequent months due to Finland’s 

freezing winters and the present risk of asbestos contamination.  

57. As a result of the fire, the vast majority of the Pori Plant was essentially destroyed 

and beyond any economically feasible repairs. Eighty percent of the entire production capacity of 

the facility had been permanently lost, accounting for more than 13% of Venator’s entire 

nameplate capacity. The damage was so extensive, and had destroyed such central facility 

components, that it would take hundreds of millions of dollars in excess of available insurance 

proceeds and years of effort to meaningfully increase production capacity, and virtually impossible 

to return the Pori Plant to full production. Thus, it would be far cheaper, and the only economically 

rational course of action, for Venator to permanently abandon the Pori Plant and either completely 

rebuild it as a new plant or purchase an alternative production facility. Adding to the unfeasibility 

of any repairs was the fact that any repair attempts would require the Company to expend 

additional resources on improved safety designs and operational changes to prevent future fires, 
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such as the abandonment of the extensive storing and use of liquid gas, sprinkler additions, the 

placement of transformers in separate facilities, the improvement of fire safety for gas processing 

pipes, and the relocation of electronic filters outside of the main building.  

58. Within days after the fire, Huntsman Corp. personnel and representatives of the 

insurance companies that had underwritten the policies applicable to the disaster arrived on scene 

to survey the damage. Over the course of the ensuing weeks and months, extensive analysis of the 

fire damage and the cost to rebuild or replace the damaged and destroyed structures and equipment, 

as well as the consideration of alternatives such as abandoning the facility, was undertaken by 

engineers, construction specialists, industry experts, consultants, finance personnel, claims 

adjusters, and many others employed by or in consultation with Huntsman Corp. and (later) the 

Company.  

59. After the fire, Huntsman Corp. failed to disclose the true extent of the damage or 

the fact that the Pori Plant had largely been destroyed. Instead, on January 31, 2017, it issued a 

press release stating that the “fire brigade responded quickly and extinguished the fire.” The press 

release continued:  

Pori has a capacity of 130,000 metric tons, which represents approximately 15% of 
Huntsman’s total titanium dioxide capacity and approximately 10% of total 
European demand. The site is insured for property damage as well as earnings 
losses. Huntsman is committed to repairing the facility as quickly as possible to 
ensure that customers can continue to receive the quality products offered by our 
Pori site. 

60. Shortly thereafter, in April 2017, Huntsman Corp. announced that it had 

reorganized its separation from Venator as an initial public offering of shares, rather than a tax-

free spin-off. As a result, the shares would not be distributed to existing Huntsman shareholders 

(which included Huntsman executives), as would have been the case in the spin-off, but rather 
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were offered to the general public for sale. Huntsman Corp. described this change as the “preferred 

market execution to maximize value for Huntsman shareholders.” 

C. DEFENDANTS CONDUCT THE IPO 

61. On May 5, 2017, Venator filed a registration statement for the IPO on Form S-1, 

which, after several amendments, was declared effective on August 2, 2017 (the “IPO Form S-1”). 

On August 4, 2017—more than six months after the Pori Plant fire—Venator filed a prospectus 

for the IPO on Form 424B4 (the “IPO Prospectus”), which incorporated and formed part of the 

IPO Form S-1 (collectively with the IPO Form S-1, the “IPO Registration Statement”). By means 

of the IPO Registration Statement, Defendants offered and sold over 26.1 million ordinary shares 

at $20 per share, which included 3.4 million shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of 

their overallotment option, for over $522 million in gross proceeds. The entirety of the proceeds 

from the IPO went to Huntsman and not to Venator. 

FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND 
OMISSIONS IN THE IPO REGISTRATION STATEMENT 

62. The IPO Registration Statement was negligently prepared and, as a result, contained 

untrue statements of material fact, omitted material facts necessary to make the statements 

contained therein not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosures required under the rules 

and regulations governing the preparation of such documents.  

63. Specifically, the IPO Registration Statement failed to disclose the true extent of the 

fire damage to Venator’s Pori Plant, the cost to rehabilitate the facility, the fact that the facility had 

been largely destroyed (and, as a result, 80% of its nameplate capacity permanently lost), and the 

impact to Venator’s business and operations as a result of the damage to the facility. Instead, the 

IPO Registration Statement described the Pori Plant fire, in pertinent part, as follows:  

Pori Fire 
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On January 30, 2017, our TiO2 manufacturing facility in Pori, Finland experienced 
fire damage, and it is currently not fully operational. We are committed to repairing 
the facility as quickly as possible. We expect the Pori facility to restart in phases as 
follows: approximately 20% capacity in the second quarter of 2017; approximately 
40% capacity in the second quarter of 2018; and full capacity around the end of 
2018. . . .. The Pori facility has a nameplate capacity of up to 130,000 metric tons 
per year, which represents approximately 17% of our total TiO2 nameplate 
capacity and approximately 2% of total global TiO2 demand. 

64. The “Pori Fire” section of the IPO Registration Statement also failed to disclose the 

full extent of the fire’s impact on the Company by stating that during the same quarter in which 

the fire occurred the Company only “recorded a loss of $32 million for the write-off of fixed 

assets and lost inventory” and “a loss of $4 million of costs for cleanup of the facility through 

March 31, 2017.” The IPO Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part, as follows: 

During the first quarter of 2017, we recorded a loss of $32 million for the write-
off of fixed assets and lost inventory in other operating (income) expense, net in 
our condensed combined statements of operations (without taking into account the 
insurance recoveries discussed below). In addition, we recorded a loss of $4 million 
of costs for cleanup of the facility through March 31, 2017.  

65. The IPO Registration Statement also indicated that the Pori Plant would be fixed 

with insurance proceeds within the policy limit. For example, the IPO Registration Statement 

stated that the “site is insured for property damage as well as business interruption losses” and that 

Venator was “working with [its] insurer to recoup losses incurred as a result of the fire.” Similarly, 

the IPO Registration Statement stated: “We have established a process with our insurer to receive 

timely advance payments for the reconstruction of the facility as well as lost profits.” The IPO 

Registration Statement stated, in pertinent part, as follows:  

The site is insured for property damage as well as business interruption losses 
subject to retained deductibles of $15 million and 60 days, respectively, with a 
limit of $500 million. The separation agreement provides that Venator will have 
the benefit of the property and business interruption insurance proceeds related to 
covered repair costs or covered lost profits incurred following this offering related 
to the Pori Fire. We have established a process with our insurer to receive timely 
advance payments for the reconstruction of the facility as well as lost profits. We 
expect to have pre-funded cash on our balance sheet resulting from these advance 
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insurance payments. We have agreed with our insurer to have monthly meetings to 
review relevant site activities and interim claims as well as regular progress 
payments. 

On February 9, 2017, we received $54 million as an initial partial progress payment 
from our insurer. During the first quarter of 2017, we recorded $32 million of 
income related to insurance recoveries in other operating (income) expense, net in 
our condensed combined statements of operations and we recorded $22 million as 
deferred income in accrued liabilities for costs not yet incurred. On May 2, 2017 
and July 10, 2017, we received progress payments from our insurer of 
approximately $76 million and $11 million, respectively.1 

66. The IPO Registration Statement also claimed that Venator was “well-positioned to 

capitalize” on growth opportunities in the TiO2 market. Key to this purported positioning was the 

Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate production capacity, which included 

130,000 metric tons from the Pori Plant, presented as if the facility would be operating at full 

capacity. These representations indicated not only that Venator would be able to bring the Pori 

Plant back to full capacity in the near term, but that the Company would grow financial results 

beyond historical figures and capitalize on the uptick in TiO2 prices. The IPO Registration 

Statement described, in pertinent part, Venator’s “Competitive Strengths” as follows:  

Well-Positioned to Capitalize on TiO2 Market Recovery and Growth Opportunities. 
We believe that our Titanium Dioxide segment is well-positioned to take advantage 
of an improvement in the TiO2 industry cycle. [TZ Mineral International Pty Ltd. 
(“TZMI”)] estimates that global TiO2 demand grew by approximately 8% in 2016 
while production capacity grew by approximately 1%. We expect this growth in 
demand to create an environment favorable for TiO2 price increases. We realized 
approximately $300 per metric ton improvement in pricing over the course of 2016. 
TZMI estimates that the market price of global high quality TiO2 will grow by more 
than $600 per metric ton, the equivalent of more than 24%, from December 31, 
2016 through the end of 2017. We have announced price increases for each of the 
first three quarters of 2017: $160 per metric ton in the first quarter, $250 per metric 
ton in the second quarter and an additional $250 per metric ton in the third quarter. 
With approximately 782,000 metric tons of annual nameplate production 
capacity, we believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on recovering TiO2 
demand and prices. According to TZMI, most North American and European 
plants are currently running at full operating rates with long delivery lead times. If 

                                                 
 
1 Emphasis has been added throughout unless otherwise noted. 
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prices continue to increase in and beyond 2017, and as capacity utilization increases 
globally, TiO2 margins are expected to increase. Additionally, with specialty and 
differentiated products accounting for approximately half of our 2016 TiO2 sales, 
we believe we can benefit from our attractive market positioning throughout the 
cycle. 

67. Similarly, the IPO Registration Statement’s “TiO2 Pricing” section highlighted that 

Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business was experiencing favorable pricing increases stating, in 

pertinent part, as follows: 

TiO2 prices steadily improved during 2016. After reaching a trough in the first 
quarter of 2016, prices have increased for each of the last four quarters. We 
realized approximately $300 per metric ton improvement in pricing over the 
course of 2016. Although the TiO2 market has shown signs of recovery, prices and 
margins remain below long term historical averages. Management expects that 
global capacity utilization rates will continue to improve as supply and demand 
conditions continue to improve. TZMI estimates that global TiO2 demand grew by 
8% in 2016 while production capacity grew by about 1%. We expect this growth in 
demand to create an environment favorable for TiO2 price increases. We have 
announced price increases for each of the first three quarters of 2017: $160 per 
metric ton in the first quarter, $250 per metric ton in the second quarter and an 
additional $250 per metric ton in the third quarter. 

68. In addition, the IPO Registration Statement claimed that the Company’s “782,000 

metric tons” of annual nameplate capacity, which again included full production from the Pori 

Plant, made it a leader in the TiO2 industry. The IPO Registration Statement stated, in pertinent 

part, as follows:  

Global Producer with Leading Market Positions. We are a leading global 
producer in many of our key product lines. We are one of the six major producers 
of TiO2, and we are among the three largest TiO2 producers, with nameplate 
production capacity of approximately 782,000 metric tons per year, accounting 
for approximately 11% of global TiO2 production capacity. We believe we are the 
leader in the specialty TiO2 industry segment, which includes products that sell at 
a premium and have more stable margins. We believe we are the TiO2 market leader 
in the fibers and films, cosmetics and food end markets, and are at the forefront of 
innovation in these applications, with an exciting pipeline of new products and 
developments that we believe will further enhance our competitive position. We 
have a leading position in differentiated markets, including performance plastics 
and printing inks, as well as in a variety of niche market segments where innovation 
and specialization are high. We believe the differentiation of our products allows 
us to generate greater growth prospects and stronger customer relationships. 
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69. Further, the IPO Registration Statement claimed that the location of its facilities, 

including the Pori Plant, “enhance[d] relationship” with the Company’s customers because “[t]he 

location of our facilities allow[ the Company] to be closer to [its] customers, which enables [the 

Company] to service [its] customers with greater speed, while reducing tariffs and transportation 

cost and increasing [its] cost competiveness.” The IPO Registration Statement stated, in pertinent 

part, as follows: 

Broad Manufacturing Network Enhances Relationships with Global Customers. 
We maintain a global manufacturing and distribution network that enables us to 
serve customers worldwide in a timely and efficient manner. Our Titanium 
Dioxide segment operates eight TiO2 manufacturing facilities in Europe, North 
America and Asia and our Performance Additives segment operates 19 color 
pigments, functional additives, water treatment and timber treatment manufacturing 
and processing facilities in Europe, North America, Asia and Australia. The 
location of our facilities allows us to be closer to our customers, which enables 
us to service our customers with greater speed, while reducing tariffs and 
transportation costs and increasing our cost competitiveness. Approximately 85% 
of our TiO2 sales are made directly to customers through our own global sales and 
technical services network, enabling us to work directly with our customers.  

70. The statements in ¶¶ 63-69 were materially false and misleading when made 

because they failed to disclose the following adverse facts that existed at the time of the IPO: 

(a) that the fire damage at the Pori Plant was far more extensive than disclosed 

to investors, rendering the facility virtually beyond repair and destroying even plants and 

equipment outside of the immediate fire zone, critically damaging the facility’s infrastructural 

components such that they could not be reasonably rebuilt or replaced, and necessitating a series 

of mechanical construction phases with concurrent rolling commissioning; 

(b) that the cost to rebuild the Pori Plant exceeded the limits of the Company’s 

insurance policy applicable to the disaster by hundreds of millions of dollars;  
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(c) that the Company was paying rebuilding premiums, and thereby incurring 

tens of millions of dollars in excessive costs, in a futile attempt to expedite the rehabilitation 

process; 

(d) that Venator had lost, essentially without prospect of rehabilitation, 80% of 

the production capacity of the Pori Plant; 

(e) that the Company’s annual TiO2 nameplate capacity as stated in the IPO 

Registration Statement had been inflated by approximately 104,000 metric tons, or more than 13%;  

(f) that since one of the Company’s primary TiO2 production facilities had been 

largely destroyed, Venator was not well-positioned to capitalize on the increase in TiO2 prices; 

(g) that, as a result of (a)-(f) above, the Pori Plant could not be economically 

rebuilt and needed to be abandoned; and  

(h) that the Company needed to incur over $400 million in restructuring 

expense associated with the closure and replacement of the Pori Plant. 

71. Moreover, Item 303 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii), required 

Defendants to “[d]escribe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant 

reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on the sales or revenues 

or income from continuing operations.” Similarly, Item 503 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. 

§229.503, requires, in the “Risk Factors” section of registration statements and prospectuses, “a 

discussion of the most significant factors that make the offering speculative or risky” and requires 

each risk factor to “adequately describe[] the risk.” The failure of the IPO Registration Statement 

to disclose the true extent of the fire damage at the Pori Plant and that the facility needed to be 

abandoned and replaced violated 17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii), because these undisclosed facts 

were known and would (and did) have an unfavorable impact on the Company’s sales, revenues 
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and income from continuing operations. This failure also violated 17 C.F.R. §229.503, because 

these specific risks were not adequately disclosed, or disclosed at all, even though they were some 

of the most significant factors that made an investment in Venator shares speculative or risky. 

72. Indeed, the risk disclosures that were provided in the IPO Registration Statement 

were themselves materially false and misleading when made. For example, while the IPO 

Registration Statement represented that the Company “may” experience construction delays in 

rebuilding the Pori Plant—but stated that the repairs were happening “as quickly as possible”—

and noted that “if” insurance “proceed do not fully cover our property damage” earnings might be 

a adversely affected, the IPO Registration Statement failed to disclose that the Pori Plant was 

already damaged beyond economically feasible repairs and thus needed to be abandoned. The risk 

disclosures themselves therefore further represented that the successful rehabilitation of the Pori 

Plant was occurring, that the plant could be repaired and restored, and that the damage was not as 

extensive as it in fact was.  

D. DEFENDANTS CONDUCT THE SPO 

73. On October 27, 2017, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the 

quarter ended September 30, 2017. The release stated that Venator had experienced favorable 

operating results during the quarter and provided the following “highlights”: (1) net income of $51 

million compared to a net loss of $5 million in the prior-year period; (2) adjusted EBITDA of $134 

million compared to $21 million in the prior-year period; (3) diluted earnings per share of $0.48 

and adjusted diluted earnings per share of $0.70; and (4) successful completion of the IPO.  

74. The release also provided an update on the Pori Plant. While the release stated that 

costs as a result of the fire were now likely to exceed the $500 million policy limit by $100 to $150 

million, it represented that this increased cost estimate was primarily due to favorable market 

conditions and increased prices for TiO2, thus creating the impression that the Pori Plant would be 
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even more profitable when it came back online. The release also stated that the most profitable 

segments of the Pori Plant would be completed in 2018, with less profitable segments ultimately 

being completed at a later date. The release stated in pertinent part:  

 Due to prevailing strong market conditions, our TiO2 selling prices continue 
to improve and our business is benefitting from the improved profitability and cash 
flows. This also has the effect of increasing our insurance claim for lost earnings 
from the Pori site. Consequently, the combination of increased TiO2 profitability 
and estimated reconstruction costs indicate that we will exceed our $500 million 
insurance limit. We expect to contain these over-the-limit costs within $100–150 
million and account for them as capital expenditures. 

 Prior to the fire, 60% of the site capacity produced specialty products which, 
on average, contributed approximately 75% of the site EBITDA. We are already 
running at 20% of previous capacity and we intend to restore manufacturing of the 
balance of these more profitable specialty products as quickly as possible in 2018. 
The remaining 40% of site capacity is more commoditized and may be reintroduced 
at a slower pace depending on market conditions, cost and projected long term 
return. 

75. That same day, during a conference call to discuss the results, Defendant Ogden 

stated that the Company’s insurance policy limit of $500 million would be “more than enough to 

cover the costs of the rebuild on its own,” but a portion of the $500 million would be used to cover 

lost earnings. Defendant Turner also represented that the more profitable “specialty” part of the 

Pori Plant would be brought online first, which would purportedly allow Venator to generate “75% 

of Pori earnings potential, the total specialty business at Pori by the end of 2018.” In response to 

an analyst question about the remaining capacity for more common products, Defendant Turner 

reassured investors, stating: “So we’re not saying it’s going to be delayed. We’re not saying we 

won’t do it.” 

76. On November 27, 2017, Venator filed a registration statement for the SPO on Form 

S-1, which was declared effective on November 29, 2017 (together with all amendments, the “SPO 

Form S-1”). On December 1, 2017, Venator filed a prospectus for the SPO on Form 424B4 (the 

“SPO Prospectus”), which incorporated and formed part of the SPO Form S-1 (collectively, the 
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“SPO Registration Statement”). By means of the SPO Registration Statement, Venator offered and 

sold more than 23.6 million ordinary shares at $22.50 per share, which included 1.9 million shares 

sold pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their overallotment option, for over $532 million in 

gross proceeds. As in the IPO, the proceeds from the SPO went to Defendant Huntsman and not 

to Venator. 

FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND 
OMISSIONS IN THE SPO REGISTRATION STATEMENT 

77. The SPO Registration Statement was negligently prepared and, as a result, 

contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted material facts necessary to make the 

statements contained therein not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosures required 

under the rules and regulations governing the preparation of such documents. 

78. Specifically, like the IPO Registration Statement, the SPO Registration Statement 

failed to disclose the true extent of the fire damage to Venator’s Pori Plant, the cost to rehabilitate 

the facility, the fact that the facility had been largely destroyed (and, as a result, 80% of its 

nameplate capacity lost), and the adverse impact to Venator’s business and operations of the 

damage to the facility. The SPO Registration Statement described the Pori Plant fire, in pertinent 

part, as follows:  

Pori Fire 

On January 30, 2017, our TiO2 manufacturing facility in Pori, Finland experienced 
fire damage and we continue to repair the facility. Prior to the fire, 60% of the site 
capacity produced specialty products which, on average, contributed greater than 
75% of the site EBITDA from January 1, 2015 through January 30, 2017. The Pori 
facility had a nameplate capacity of up to 130,000 metric tons per year, which 
represented approximately 17% of our total TiO2 capacity and approximately 2% 
of total global TiO2 demand. We are currently operating at 20% of total prior 
capacity but producing only specialty products, and we currently intend to restore 
manufacturing of the balance of these more profitable specialty products by the 
fourth quarter of 2018. The remaining 40% of site capacity is more commoditized 
and we will determine if and when to rebuild this commoditized capacity depending 
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on market conditions, costs and projected long term returns relative to our other 
investment opportunities. 

79. The SPO Registration Statement also failed to disclose the extent of the fire’s 

impact on the Company by stating that, in the nine months since the fire, the Company had only 

“recorded a loss of $31 million for the write-off of fixed assets and lost inventory” and “a loss of 

$18 million of costs for cleanup of the facility.” The SPO Registration Statement stated, in 

pertinent part, as follows: 

We have recorded a loss of $31 million for the write-off of fixed assets and lost 
inventory in other operating income, net in our condensed consolidated and 
combined statements of operations for the nine months ending September 30, 2017. 
In addition, we recorded a loss of $18 million of costs for cleanup of the facility 
in other operating income, net through September 30, 2017. 

80. In addition, the SPO Registration Statement represented that the modest increase in 

estimated costs above the insurance policy limits related to the Pori Plant fire was primarily due 

to favorable market conditions and increased TiO2 selling prices, stating, in pertinent part, as 

follows:  

The site is insured for property damage as well as business interruption losses 
subject to retained deductibles of $15 million and 60 days, respectively, with an 
aggregate limit of $500 million. Due to prevailing strong market conditions, our 
TiO2 selling prices continue to improve and our business is benefitting from the 
resulting improved profitability and cash flows. This also has the effect of 
increasing our total anticipated business interruption losses from the Pori site. 
We currently believe the combination of increased TiO2 profitability and recently 
estimated reconstruction costs will result in combined business interruption losses 
and reconstruction costs in excess of our $500 million aggregate insurance limit. 
We currently expect to contain these over-the-limit costs within $100 million to 
$150 million, and to account for them as capital expenditures and fund them from 
cash from operations, which will decrease our liquidity in the periods those costs 
in excess of our insurance limits are incurred. . . . 

The fire at our Pori facility did not have a material impact on our 2017 third quarter 
operating results as losses incurred were offset by insurance proceeds. We received 
$141 million of non-refundable partial progress payments from our insurer through 
September 30, 2017 and we received an additional $112 million payment on 
October 9, 2017. During the first nine months of 2017, we recorded $128 million 
of income related to property damage and business interruption insurance 
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recoveries in other operating income, net and cost of goods sold in our condensed 
consolidated and combined statements of operations to offset property damage and 
business interruption losses recorded during the period. We recorded $17 million 
as deferred income in accrued liabilities as of September 30, 2017 for insurance 
proceeds received for costs not yet incurred. The difference between payments 
received from our insurers of $141 million and the sum of income of $128 million 
and deferred income of $17 million is related to the foreign exchange movements 
of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the first nine months of the year. 

81. The SPO Registration Statement also indicated that the Pori Plant would not have 

a material adverse impact to Venator’s earnings beyond the relatively modest increase in business 

disruption costs. For example, the SPO Registration Statement stated that the Pori Plant fire “did 

not have a material impact on our 2017 third quarter operating results as losses incurred were offset 

by insurance proceeds.” The SPO Registration Statement also stated that the “site is insured for 

property damage as well as business interruption losses.” Similarly, the SPO Registration 

Statement stated: “We have established a process with our insurer to receive timely advance 

payments for the reconstruction of the facility as well as business interruption losses, subject to 

policy limits.” 

82. The SPO Registration Statement also continued to represent that Venator was 

“well-positioned to capitalize” on growth opportunities in the TiO2 market. Key to this purported 

positioning was the Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate capacity, which 

included 130,000 metric tons from the Pori Plant, presented as if the facility would be operating at 

full capacity. These representations indicated not only that Venator would be able to bring the Pori 

Plant back to full capacity in the near term, but that the Company would grow financial results 

beyond historical figures. The SPO Registration Statement described, in pertinent part, Venator’s 

“Competitive Strengths” as follows:  

Well-Positioned to Capitalize on Strength of TiO2 Market and Growth 
Opportunities. We believe that our Titanium Dioxide segment is well-positioned to 
take advantage of improvements in the TiO2 industry cycle. TZMI estimates that 
global TiO2 demand grew by approximately 8% in 2016 and forecasts growth of 
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approximately 2% in 2017. TZMI further estimates that production capacity grew 
by approximately 1% in 2016 and forecasts growth of approximately 2% in 2017. 
We expect a favorable supply/demand balance will further promote an environment 
favorable for TiO2 price increases. We realized approximately $300 per metric ton 
improvement in pricing over the course of 2016. TZMI estimates that the market 
price of global high quality TiO2 will grow by more than $600 per metric ton, the 
equivalent of more than 26%, from December 31, 2016 through the first quarter of 
2018. We announced price increases for each of the first three quarters of 2017: 
$160 per metric ton in the first quarter, $250 per metric ton in the second quarter 
and $250 per metric ton in the third quarter. Additionally, we are seeking price 
increases of up to $180 per metric ton in the fourth quarter with regional variations. 
With approximately 782,000 metric tons of annual nameplate production 
capacity, we believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on recovering TiO2 
demand and prices. According to TZMI, most North American and European 
plants are currently running at full operating rates with long delivery lead times. If 
prices continue to increase in and beyond 2017, and additional savings through our 
business improvement program are delivered, TiO2 margins are expected to 
increase. Additionally, with specialty and differentiated products accounting for 
approximately half of our 2016 TiO2 sales, we believe we can benefit from our 
attractive market positioning throughout the cycle. 

83. Similarly, the SPO Registration Statement’s “TiO2 Pricing” section stated that 

Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business was experiencing favorable pricing, stating, in pertinent part, 

as follows: 

TiO2 prices steadily improved during 2016. After reaching a trough in the first 
quarter of 2016, prices have increased for each of the last six quarters. We 
realized approximately $300 per metric ton improvement in pricing over the 
course of 2016. Although the TiO2 market has improved significantly, TiO2 prices 
remain below historically high average prices in 2011 and 2012. Management 
expects that global industry capacity utilization rates will continue to improve as 
supply and demand conditions continue to improve. TZMI estimates that global 
TiO2 demand grew by approximately 8% in 2016 and forecasts growth of 
approximately 2% in 2017. TZMI further estimates that production capacity grew 
by approximately 1% in 2016 and forecasts growth of approximately 2% in 2017. 
We expect a favorable supply/demand balance will further promote an environment 
favorable for TiO2 price increases. We announced price increases for each of the 
first three quarters of 2017: $160 per metric ton in the first quarter, $250 per metric 
ton in the second quarter and $250 per metric ton in the third quarter. Additionally, 
we are seeking price increases of up to $180 per metric ton in the fourth quarter 
with regional variations. 

84. In addition, the SPO Registration Statement claimed that the Company’s “782,000 

metric tons” of annual nameplate capacity, which again included full production from the Pori 
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Plant, made it a leader in the TiO2 industry. The SPO Registration Statement stated, in pertinent 

part, as follows:  

Global Producer with Leading Market Positions. We are a leading global producer 
in many of our key product lines. We are one of the six major producers of TiO2, 
and we are among the three largest TiO2 producers, with nameplate production 
capacity of approximately 782,000 metric tons per year, accounting for 
approximately 11% of global TiO2 production capacity. We believe we are the 
leader in the specialty TiO2 industry segment, which includes products that sell at 
a premium and have more stable margins. We believe we are the TiO2 market leader 
in the fibers and films, cosmetics and food end markets, and are at the forefront of 
innovation in these applications, with an exciting pipeline of new products and 
developments that we believe will further enhance our competitive position. We 
have a leading position in differentiated markets, including performance plastics 
and printing inks, as well as in a variety of niche market segments where innovation 
and specialization are high. We believe the differentiation of our products allows 
us to generate greater growth prospects and stronger customer relationships. 

85. Further the SPO Registration Statement claimed that the location of its facilities, 

including the Pori Plant, “enhance[d] relationships” with the Company’s customers because “[t]he 

location of [the Company’s] facilities allow[ed it] to be closer to [its] customers, which enable[d 

the Company] to service [its] customers with greater speed, while reducing tariffs and 

transportation cost and increasing [the Company’s] cost competiveness.” The SPO Registration 

Statement stated, in pertinent part, as follows: 

Broad Manufacturing Network Enhances Relationships with Global Customers. 
We maintain a global manufacturing and distribution network that enables us to 
serve customers worldwide in a timely and efficient manner. Our Titanium 
Dioxide segment operates eight TiO2 manufacturing facilities in Europe, North 
America and Asia and our Performance Additives segment operates 19 color 
pigments, functional additives, water treatment and timber treatment manufacturing 
and processing facilities in Europe, North America, Asia and Australia. The 
location of our facilities allows us to be closer to our customers, which enables 
us to service our customers with greater speed, while reducing tariffs and 
transportation costs and increasing our cost competitiveness. Approximately 85% 
of our TiO2 sales are made directly to customers through our own global sales and 
technical services network, enabling us to work directly with our customers. 

86. The statements in ¶¶ 78-85 were materially false and misleading when made 

because they failed to disclose the following adverse facts that existed at the time of the SPO:  
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(a) that the fire damage at the Pori Plant was far more extensive than disclosed 

to investors, rendering the facility virtually beyond repair and destroying even plants and 

equipment outside of the immediate fire zone, critically damaging the facility’s infrastructural 

components such that they could not be reasonably rebuilt or replaced, and necessitating a series 

of mechanical construction phases with concurrent rolling commissioning;  

(b) that the cost to rebuild the Pori Plant exceeded the limits of the Company’s 

insurance policy applicable to the disaster by hundreds of millions of dollars; 

(c) that Company was paying rebuilding premiums, and thereby incurring tens 

of millions of dollars in excessive costs, in a futile attempt to expedite the rehabilitation process; 

(d) that Venator had lost, essentially without prospect of rehabilitation, 80% of 

the production capacity of the Pori Plant; 

(e) that the Company’s annual TiO2 nameplate capacity had been inflated by 

approximately 104,000 metric tons, or more than 13%; 

(f) that since one of the Company’s primary TiO2 production facilities had been 

largely destroyed, Venator was not well-positioned to capitalize on the increase in TiO2 prices; 

(g) that, as a result of (a)-(f) above, the Pori Plant could not be economically 

rebuilt and needed to be abandoned; and  

(h) that the Company needed to incur over $400 million in restructuring 

expense associated with the closure and replacement of the Pori Plant. 

87. Moreover, the failure of the SPO Registration Statement to disclose the true extent 

of the fire damage at the Pori Plant and that the facility needed to be abandoned and replaced 

violated 17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii), because these undisclosed facts were known and would (and 

did) have an unfavorable impact on the Company’s sales, revenues and income from continuing 
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operations. This failure also violated 17 C.F.R. §229.503, because these specific risks were not 

adequately disclosed, or disclosed at all, even though they were some of the most significant 

factors that made an investment in Venator shares speculative or risky. 

88. Indeed, the risk disclosures that were provided in the SPO Registration Statement 

were themselves materially false and misleading when made. For example, the SPO Registration 

Statement represented that the Company “may” experience construction delays in rebuilding the 

Pori Plant or the rebuild “may” exceed cost estimates, but stated that was working to “restore 

manufacturing of the balance of [the facility’s] more profitable specialty products by the fourth 

quarter of 2018” and failed to disclose that the Pori Plant was already damaged beyond 

economically feasible repairs and thus needed to be abandoned. The risk disclosures themselves 

therefore further represented that the successful rehabilitation of the Pori Plant was occurring, that 

the plant could be repaired and restored, and that the damage was not as extensive as it in fact was.  

E. EVENTS FOLLOWING THE SPO 

89. On February 23, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for 

the quarter ended December 31, 2017—the same quarter during which Defendants had conducted 

the SPO. The press release stated that the cost estimates to rebuild the Pori Plant would in fact 

exceed insurance proceeds by as much as $375 million, more than double the amount provided in 

the SPO Registration Statement. This sum still did not account for the true costs to reconstruct the 

Pori Plant, which were necessitated by damage that had already occurred at the facility as of the 

date of the Offerings. The release stated that part of this increased cost was due to Venator “paying 

a fast-track premium” to accelerate the reconstruction of more profitable specialty production 

segments of the Pori Plant. Further, the release stated that the less profitable commodity portion 

of the facility would not be completed until 2020 at the earliest.  
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90. On the earnings call to discuss these results, CEO Turner stated that a significant 

portion of the Company’s profitable specialty business was heavily impacted by the fire: 

Eric B. Petrie – Citigroup Inc. 
Okay. And just going back to the cost estimates for the Pori restart sort of range of 
$325 million to $375 million, versus $100 million to $150 million buyer. You noted 
that, part of it was due to the fast—track premium, but I don’t think you’ve changed 
your timeline for the restart of the specialty grades. So I’m just wondering, why 
such a higher — over 70% above your $500 million insurance policy, Why is 
that? And then going forward, is your — contracts are working on a turnkey fixed 
basis? Or could this be cost-plus?  

Simon Turner – Venator Materials plc 
Okay. So from the first part of your question here. I think, I said earlier in response 
to the first question from David that, as we see it, the specialty portion of the 60% 
rebuild that we are going at a fast pace to restore, in which we are on pace, that’s a 
very demanding timeline. And ordinarily, and to think we had a fire at roughly 12 
months ago and we’ll bring on the first pounds and the second quarter of this year. 
That’s a very fast-paced recovery. And that’s because, the first part of the specialty 
project was in the less — badly but less impacted zone. The second portion of the 
specialty is in the more heavily impacted zone. And that accounts for the 
difference in the cost profile for the rebuild. So I hope that kind of like helps you 
out there with the reason why there’s some difference even within the 60%. And 
frequently here we are having to order main-power items even before design is 
complete. It’s a very challenging timeline. 

91. On May 1, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the 

quarter ended March 31, 2018. The release stated that the production capacity had essentially not 

improved at the Pori Plant at all since the IPO, as the facility was still only operating at 20% 

capacity, despite the receipt of hundreds of millions of dollars in insurance proceeds that were 

purportedly being put towards reconstruction costs. Further, the release also stated that the 

reconstruction process was substantially more complicated than previously portrayed, as the 

“reconstruction process entails a series of mechanical construction phases with concurrent rolling 

commissioning.” The release stated that, as a result, even the facility’s specialty production 

segment could not be completed in 2018.  
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92. On the Company’s Q1 2018 earnings call, Defendant Turner, Venator’s CEO, 

acknowledged that the actual extent of the damage and cost to rebuild involved “new information” 

that had not been provided in the IPO Registration Statement or SPO Registration Statement:  

I think it’s important to note, as we stated, it’s a complex project. It requires a lot 
of attention. We have said for a while that this was a fire in the center of the plant, 
it requires a lot of reconstruction in close quarters, there’s some shared 
infrastructure, and of course, it’s fast paced. I think the important update here is 
that, as we turn now to look into the commissioning process, we are now in a 
position to bring new information, and we’ve committed to regular updates on 
these calls. 

93. On July 31, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2018. The release discussed “strategic developments” at the Pori Plant, 

which acknowledged that the fire damage was far more extensive than previously represented. As 

a result, the actual costs of a full rebuild would substantially exceed even $375 million in self-

funded costs above the insurance policy limits. The release stated, in pertinent part, as follows:  

Earlier this year we took steps to strengthen our Pori, Finland, project resources and 
improve our probability of success. Within the past few months, we engaged 
additional outside experts and hired and re-allocated additional internal resources 
for the project, with an objective of improving both the execution and cost 
management of the project, and to update our view on the total cost of rebuilding 
the site. This process identified that additional reconstruction would be required 
outside the immediate fire zone, leading to increased costs. Unfortunately, our 
contractor on the site also experienced a recent and significant safety incident, 
which paused construction for several weeks while the incident was under 
investigation, which also has extended the reconstruction timeline. These recent 
changes and events have led us to believe now that a full rebuild and commissioning 
may require more self-funding than our previous estimate of $325 to $375 million 
and may result in a longer period of time for project completion. As a result of these 
recent developments and in light of our potential acquisition of the Ashtabula 
complex, we are reviewing options within our manufacturing network, including 
the option of transferring the production of Pori’s specialty and differentiated 
products to elsewhere in our network, and are pacing our on-going construction 
activities at Pori accordingly during this period of review. 

94. On Venator’s related earnings call, Defendant Turner again acknowledged that the 

true extent of the fire damage and cost of the rebuild had not been previously disclosed:  
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Turning now to our TiO2 facility in Pori, Finland. Earlier this year, we took steps 
to strengthen our project resources and improve our probability of success. Within 
the past few months, we engaged additional outside experts and higher than 
reallocated additional internal resources for the project, with an objective of 
improving both the execution and cost management of the project and to update 
our view on the total cost of rebuilding the site. This process identified additional 
reconstruction would be required outside the immediate fire zone, leading to 
increased costs. 

95. On September 12, 2018, Venator issued a release announcing that the Company 

was abandoning the Pori Plant. At the time, the facility was only operating at 20% capacity, 

meaning that production capacity at the facility had still not increased by any meaningful amount 

since the IPO, despite Venator having received $551 million in insurance proceeds and having 

incurred $247 million in CapEx and clean-up costs as of June 30, 2018.2 Thus, in the thirteen 

months following the IPO, Venator failed to restore even 1% of the Pori Plant’s capacity even 

though Venator had received $551 million in insurance proceeds for the Pori Plant fire.  

96. Moreover, Venator stated it would incur $130 million in costs to wind down prior 

construction activity, $150 million in CapEx spending to transfer production from the Pori Plant 

and strengthen Venator’s existing sulfate network, and another $150 million in plant closure costs. 

Put differently, the true out of pocket cost for Venator to rebuild the Pori Plant was so much higher 

than the $500 million insurance policy limit that it made more economic sense to the Company to 

spend $430 million to abandon the Pori Plant rather than to rebuild it. This contrasts with 

Defendant Ogden’s October 2017 claim that $500 million would be “more than enough” to rebuild 

the Pori Plant. These facts further confirm that the Pori Plant had been effectively damaged beyond 

repair and had lost the majority of its production capacity as of the time of the IPO and the SPO.  

                                                 
 
2  The difference between the $500 million insurance policy limit and $551 million in proceeds 
actually received by the Company appears attributable to fluctuations in the foreign exchange 
markets as Venator accepted the insurance proceeds in Euros. 
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97. During an investor conference call to discuss the closure of the Pori Plant, 

Defendant Turner reaffirmed this timeline. When asked by an analyst whether Venator had 

provided a “misestimate of the initial amount of damage from the fire” and whether “the actual 

work that needed to be done was missed,” Defendant Turner agreed that “it was a combination of 

factors, both of which, you’ve mentioned already.” Thus, as Defendant Turner acknowledged, the 

IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement did not disclose the actual initial 

amount of damage from the fire or the work that was necessary to repair the Pori Plant. Rather, a 

“misestimate” of these material facts had been provided to investors.  

98. On October 30, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2018. The release stated that the Company had incurred a restructuring 

expense related to the Pori Plant of $415 million during the quarter. In addition, a slide presentation 

accompanying the release stated that the total projected cash costs related to the Pori Plant closure 

were estimated at $430 million. 

99. On December 14, 2018, Venator filed a business update on Form 8-K. The release 

stated that the Company’s Vice President of Color Pigments, Jan Buberl, had resigned. The release 

further stated that Buberl would not be replaced, and that two additional executive officer positions 

had been eliminated and “more aggressive working capital management” plans implemented in 

order to reduce fixed costs and improve cash flows. The release cited the transfer of specialty 

products from the Pori Plant to other sites as part of Venator’s turnaround plans.  

100. By December 17, 2018, the price of Venator shares had fallen to $3.65 per share, 

82% below the price at which Venator shares had been sold to investors in the IPO and 84% below 

the price at which Venator shares had been to investors sold in the SPO. 
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

101. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of all persons who purchased 

Venator ordinary shares in or traceable to the Company’s IPO and/or in the SPO (the “Class”). 

Excluded from the Class are Defendants and their families, the officers, directors, and affiliates of 

the Defendants, at all relevant times, and members of their immediate families, and their legal 

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns and any entity in which Defendants have or had a 

controlling interest. 

102. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. Venator shares are actively traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol “VNTR” 

and millions of shares were sold in the IPO and the SPO. While the exact number of Class members 

is unknown to Plaintiffs at this time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, 

Plaintiffs believe that there are hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record 

owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by Venator or 

its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of 

notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions, including being given an 

opportunity to exclude themselves from the Class. 

103. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

104. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class 

and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

105. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 



   40 

(a) whether Defendants violated the Securities Act; 

(b) whether the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement 

contained inaccurate statements of fact and omitted material information required to be stated 

therein; and 

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 

106. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the 

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden 

of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the 

wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act 

(Against Venator, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants) 

107. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

108. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. §77k, on behalf of the Class, against Venator, each of the Individual Defendants, and each 

of the Underwriter Defendants. 

109. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiffs do not allege that any of 

the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted 

with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a Section 11 claim. This claim is based 

solely on negligence and/or strict liability. 

110. The IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement were 

inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts 
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necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required 

to be stated therein. 

111. Venator is the registrant for the IPO and the SPO. As such, Venator is strictly liable 

for the materially inaccurate statements contained in the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement and the failure of the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration 

Statement to be complete and accurate. By virtue of the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement containing material misrepresentations and omissions of material fact 

necessary to make the statements therein not false and misleading, Venator is liable under Section 

11 of the Securities Act to Plaintiffs and the Class. 

112. None of the Defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or possessed 

reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the IPO Registration Statement 

and/or the SPO Registration Statement were true and without omission of any material facts and 

were not misleading. 

113. The Individual Defendants each signed the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement and caused their issuance. The Individual Defendants each had a duty to 

make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy of the statements 

contained in the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. They each had 

a duty to ensure that such statements were true and accurate and that there was no omissions of 

material fact that would make the statements misleading. By virtue of each of the Individual 

Defendants’ failure to exercise reasonable care, the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement contained misrepresentations of material facts and omissions of material 

facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As such, each of the Individual 

Defendants is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Plaintiffs and the Class. 
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114. Each of the Underwriter Defendants served as an underwriter of the securities 

offered in the IPO or SPO and had a duty to make a reasonable diligent investigation of the 

truthfulness and accuracy of the statements contained in IPO Registration Statement and the SPO 

Registration Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that such statements were true and accurate 

and that there were no omissions of material fact that would make statements misleading. By virtue 

of each of the Underwriter Defendants’ failure to exercise reasonable care, the IPO Registration 

Statement and SPO Registration Statement contained misrepresentations of material facts and 

omissions of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As such, each 

of the Underwriter Defendants is liable under Section 11 of the Securities Act to Plaintiffs and the 

Class.  

115. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, each Defendant named in this Cause of 

Action violated, and/or controlled a person who violated, Section 11 of the Securities Act. 

116. Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages. The value of Venator shares has 

declined substantially subsequent to and due to the violations of the Defendants named in this 

Cause of Action. 

117. At the time of their purchases of Venator shares, Plaintiffs and other members of 

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein and 

could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than one year 

has elapsed from the time that Plaintiffs discovered or reasonably could have discovered the facts 

upon which this petition is based to the time this action was commenced. Less than three years has 

elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of Action is brought were 

offered to the public and this action was commenced. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violations of Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act 

(Against All Defendants) 

118. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

119. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 

15 U.S.C. §771(a)(2), on behalf of the Class, against each of the Defendants.  

120. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiffs do not allege that any of 

the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted 

with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a Section 12(a)(2) claim. This claim 

is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.  

121. The Defendants were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of purchasers of the 

ordinary shares sold pursuant to the defective IPO Prospectus and/or the SPO Prospectus. 

122. The IPO Prospectus and the SPO Prospectus contained untrue statements of 

material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make statements made not misleading, and 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. The actions of solicitation by the 

Defendants included participating in the preparation of the false and misleading IPO Prospectus 

and SPO Prospectus, roadshow, and marketing of Venator ordinary shares to investors, such as 

Plaintiffs and other members of the Class.  

123. Defendants owed to the purchasers of Venator’s ordinary shares, including 

Plaintiffs and other members of the Class, the duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation 

of the statements contained in the IPO Prospectus and the SPO Prospectus to ensure that such 

statements were true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be stated in 

order to make the statements contained therein not misleading. By virtue of each Defendants’ 

failure to exercise reasonable care, the IPO Prospectus and the SPO Prospectus contained 
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misrepresentations of material facts and omissions of material facts necessary to make the 

statements therein not misleading. 

124. Plaintiffs did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could Plaintiffs 

have known, of the untruths and omissions contained in the IPO Prospectus and the SPO 

Prospectus at the time Plaintiffs purchased Venator shares. 

125. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Defendants violated Section 12(a)(2) of 

the Securities Act. As a direct and proximate result of such violation, Plaintiffs and the other 

members of the Class who purchased Venator shares pursuant to the IPO Prospectus and/or the 

SPO Prospectus sustained substantial damages in connection with their share purchases. 

Accordingly, Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class who hold the shares issued pursuant to 

the IPO Prospectus and/or the SPO Prospectus have the right to rescind and recover the 

consideration paid for their shares with interest thereon or damages as allowed by law or in equity. 

Class members who have sold their Venator shares seek damages to the extent permitted by law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act 

(Against the Selling Shareholder Defendants and the Individual Defendants) 

126. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

127. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 77o, on behalf of the Class, against each of the Individual Defendants and each of the 

Selling Shareholder Defendants. 

128. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiffs do not allege that any of 

the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of the Defendants acted 

with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a Section 15 claim. This claim is based 

solely on negligence and/or strict liability. 



   45 

129. The Individual Defendants each were controlling persons of Venator by virtue of 

their positions as directors and/or senior officers of Venator. The Individual Defendants each had 

a series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or 

officers and/or major shareholders of Venator. 

130. Each of the Individual Defendants participated in the preparation and dissemination 

of the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, and otherwise participated in 

the process necessary to conduct the IPO and SPO. Because of their positions of control and 

authority as senior officers and/or directors of Venator each of the Individual Defendants were 

able to, and did, control the contents of the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration 

Statement, which contained materially untrue information and/or omitted material information 

required to be disclosed to prevent the statements made therein from being misleading. 

131. Each of the Selling Shareholder Defendants, by virtue of their ordinary shares 

ownership, their Board designees constituting a majority of the Board, and their own admissions 

in the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, controlled Venator and each 

of the Individual Defendants. Each of the Selling Shareholder Defendants participated in the 

preparation and dissemination of the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, 

and otherwise participated in the process necessary to conduct the IPO and SPO. Because of their 

position of control and authority as controlling shareholders and their position as selling 

shareholders in the IPO and SPO, each of the Selling Shareholder Defendants were able to, and 

did, control the contents of the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, which 

contained materially untrue information and/or omitted material information required to be 

disclosed to prevent the statements made therein from being misleading.  
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132. As control persons of Venator, each of the Individual Defendants and each of the 

Selling Shareholder Defendants are liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as 

Venator for its violations of Section 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating Plaintiffs as Class 

representatives under Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 42, and Plaintiffs’ counsel, Robbins Geller 

Rudman & Dowd LLP and Labaton Sucharow LLP, as Class counsel; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiffs and the other Class 

members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

C. Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; 

D. Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages; and 

E. Awarding such equitable/injunctive or other relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper, including permitting any Class members to exclude themselves by requesting exclusion 

through noticed procedures. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury. 

DATED: April 8, 2019 KENDALL LAW GROUP, PLLC 
 
 _______/s/ Joe Kendall_____________ 
JOE KENDALL (Texas Bar No. 11260700) 
 
3811 Turtle Creek Blvd., Suite 1450 
Dallas, TX 75219 
Telephone: 214/744-3000 
214/744-3015 (fax) 
jkenda11@kenda111awgroup.com  
 
Liaison Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class 
 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN  
  & DOWD LLP 
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN (pro hac vice) 
58 S. Service Road, Suite 200 
Melville, NY 11747 
Telephone: 631/367-7100 
631/367-1173 (fax) 
srudman@rgrdlaw.com 

 
BRIAN E. COCHRAN (pro hac vice) 
200 South Wacker Drive, 31st Floor 
Chicago, IL 60606 
Telephone: 312/674-4674 
312/674-4676 (fax) 
bcochran@rgrdlaw.com 
 
LABATON SUCHAROW LLP 
JONATHAN GARDNER (pro hac forthcoming) 
ALFRED L. FATALE III (pro hac forthcoming) 
LISA STREJLAU (pro hac forthcoming) 
140 Broadway, 34th Floor 
New York, New York 10005 
Telephone: 212/907-0700 
212/818-0477 (fax) 
jgardner@labaton.com 
afatale@labaton.com 
lstrejlau@labaton.com 
 
Interim Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Motion was served on all counsel of record on 

April 8, 2019 via electronic filing, in accordance with the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure. 

      /s/ Joe Kendall    
          JOE KENDALL 
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	2. Defendant Venator is a chemical company with headquarters in Texas and the United Kingdom. In 2017, Venator was spun off from Defendant Huntsman Corp. On August 3, 2017, Venator conducted an initial public offering of its stock (the “IPO”), and the...
	3. Venator’s primary revenue source is the production of titanium dioxide (“TiO2”). Titanium dioxide is a chemical pigment that provides whiteness, opacity, and brightness to manufactured items. For 2016, TiO2 revenues accounted for 67% of the Company...
	4. In January 2017, prior to the IPO, a massive fire ravaged the Pori Plant. The fire was sparked in the Pori Plant’s electrostatic precipitator in its central building, and then spread throughout the plant’s pipe network and manufacturing halls. Pipe...
	5. While the fact that the fire occurred was known to potential investors, the devastating extent of the disaster and the irreparable damage to the facility that it had caused was not. The fire had destroyed the Pori Plant’s central facility, and the ...
	6. After the fire occurred, Huntsman Corp. did not disclose the extent of the fire damage or that the Pori Plant had been damaged beyond repair. Instead, Huntsman Corp. issued a statement that the “fire brigade responded quickly and extinguished the f...
	7. In August 2017, more than six months after the fire had occurred, Defendants conducted the IPO, selling more than 26 million Venator shares at $20 per share and generating over $522 million in gross proceeds. The IPO Registration Statement (as defi...
	8.  A few months later, in November 2017, Defendants conducted the SPO, selling an additional 23.7 million Venator shares to the investing public at $22.50 per share and generating proceeds of over $533 million. The SPO Registration Statement (as defi...
	9. In the months following the SPO, Venator stated that the cost estimates to repair the Pori Plant were hundreds of millions of dollars greater, and the fire damage far more extensive, than disclosed in the IPO or SPO Registration Statements. Then, i...
	10. By December 17, 2018, Venator’s share price fell to $3.65 per share, 82% below the IPO price and 84% below the SPO price.
	DISCOVERY LEVEL
	11. Due to the complexity of the case, discovery should be conducted pursuant to a discovery control plan under Level 3. See Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 190.4.
	JURISDICTION AND VENUE
	12. The claims alleged herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2) and 77o.
	13. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to Section 22 of the Securities Act and under Article V, §8 of the Texas Constitution and Tex. Gov’t Code §§24.007-24.008. The amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdicti...
	14. Defendants, and each of them, have had substantial and continuous contacts with Texas that make the exercise of personal jurisdiction over them proper. Defendants, and each of them, have minimum contacts with Texas, because they, for example, resi...
	15. Venue is proper in Dallas County pursuant to §15.002 of the Civil Practice & Remedies Code and Section 22 of the Securities Act. A substantial part of the events and omissions that give rise to the claims asserted herein occurred in Dallas County,...
	PARTIES
	A. PLAINTIFFS

	16. Plaintiff Macomb County Employees’ Retirement System (“Macomb”) purchased Venator ordinary shares in and traceable to the IPO and in the SPO and was damaged thereby.
	17. Plaintiff Firemen’s Retirement System of St. Louis (“Firemen” and, together with Macomb, “Plaintiffs”) purchased Venator ordinary shares in and traceable to the IPO and in the SPO and was damaged thereby.
	B. CORPORATE DEFENDANT

	18. Defendant Venator is the issuer of the ordinary shares sold in the Offerings. The Company is a manufacturer and marketer of chemical products, in particular TiO2. Venator is incorporated under the laws of England and Wales as public limited compan...
	C. INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS

	19. Defendant Simon Turner (“Turner”) served as President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and a director of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Turner signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement...
	20. Defendant Kurt D. Ogden (“Ogden”) served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Ogden signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. Due...
	21. Defendant Stephen Ibbotson (“Ibbotson”) served as Vice President, Corporate Controller, and Principal Accounting Officer of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Ibbotson signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Regis...
	22. Defendant Russ R. Stolle (“Stolle”) served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Chief Compliance Officer (“CCO”) of Venator at the time of the IPO and the SPO. Defendant Stolle signed both the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Regis...
	23. The Defendants identified in  19-22 are referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.” Each of the Individual Defendants signed the IPO Registration Statement and the SPO Registration Statement. In addition, as directors and/or executive off...
	D. SELLING SHAREHOLDER DEFENDANTS

	24. Defendant Huntsman (Holdings) Netherlands B.V. (“Huntsman Holdings”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Defendant Huntsman Corp. Huntsman Holdings sold shares offered in the IPO and the SPO. By Court order, Huntsman Holdings is deemed to have been se...
	25. Defendant Huntsman International LLC (“Huntsman International”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Defendant Huntsman Corp. Huntsman International sold shares offered in the IPO. By Court order, Huntsman International is deemed to have been served wi...
	26. Defendant Huntsman Corp. (together with Huntsman Holdings and Huntsman International, “Huntsman” or the “Selling Shareholder Defendants”) is a multinational manufacturer and marketer of chemical products for consumers and industrial customers. Ven...
	27. The Defendants identified in  24-26 are referred to herein as the “Selling Shareholder Defendants.” The Selling Shareholder Defendants controlled Venator before, during, and immediately after both the IPO and the SPO. Prior to the IPO, the Selli...
	28. Both the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement stated that Huntsman controlled, and after the IPO and SPO continued to control, a majority of the voting power of Venator’s ordinary shares and that Venator was a “controlled comp...
	29. The Selling Shareholder Defendants selected the management and members of the Board prior to the IPO, many of whom were long-time Huntsman employees, and continued to exert control and influence over the Company throughout the relevant period and ...
	30. By virtue of their stock ownership and their designation of Venator’s management and Board, and as stated in the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement, Huntsman controlled Venator at the time of the IPO and SPO.
	E. UNDERWRITER DEFENDANTS

	31. Defendants Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (“Citigroup”) served as a lead underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, Citigroup was a...
	32. Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill Lynch”) served as a lead underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In ...
	33. Defendant Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC (“Goldman”) served as a lead underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, Goldman was allocated 5,...
	34. Defendant J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JP Morgan”) served as a lead underwriter for the IPO and the SPO and sold millions of shares of Venator shares in each of the Offerings, receiving certain fees and commissions. In the IPO, JP Morgan was alloc...
	35. The Defendants referenced in  31-34 are collectively referred to as the “Underwriter Defendants.” The Underwriter Defendants are investment banking houses which specialize, inter alia, in underwriting public offerings of securities. They served ...
	36. The Underwriter Defendants determined that in return for their share of the Offerings’ proceeds, they were willing to merchandise Venator’s ordinary shares in the Offerings. The Underwriter Defendants arranged for a roadshow prior to the IPO durin...
	37. The Underwriter Defendants also demanded and obtained an agreement from Venator that Venator would indemnify and hold the Underwriter Defendants harmless from any liability under the federal securities laws. They also made certain that Venator had...
	38. Representatives of the Underwriter Defendants assisted Venator, the Individual Defendants, and Huntsman in planning the Offerings, and purportedly conducted an adequate and reasonable investigation into the business and operations of Venator, an u...
	39. In addition to availing themselves of virtually unbridled access to internal corporate documents, agents of the Underwriter Defendants met with Venator’s and Huntsman’s management, top executives (including the Individual Defendants), and outside ...
	SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
	A. VENATOR’S TITANIUM DIOXIDE BUSINESS

	40. Venator is a self-professed leading global manufacturer and marketer of chemical products. Venator operates and markets its products through two business segments (i) Titanium Dioxide, and (ii) Performance Additives.
	41. Titanium dioxide is a white pigment used to increase white opacity and brightness in the formulation of paints, coatings, inks, ceramics, paper, and plastic production. Titanium dioxide is produced in several grades with differing properties, maki...
	42. Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business comprises a large majority of the Company’s revenues. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2017, Venator generated $1.604 billion in revenue from its Titanium Dioxide segment and only $605 million in reve...
	43. Venator’s Titanium Dioxide segment produces a broad range of TiO2 products and is further segmented into (i) functional or commodity grade TiO2 and (ii) specialty TiO2. Venator’s specialty products generally sell at a premium into specialized appl...
	44. Titanium dioxide is derived from titanium bearing ores and is a white inert pigment that provides whiteness, opacity, and brightness. Venator engages in both sulfate and chloride manufacturing processes to make TiO2. Venator’s Pori Plant is a sulf...
	45. The sulfate process is comprised of three stages. First, the ore, usually an ilmenite, is dissolved in sulfuric acid to form a mixture of sulfates. Any iron is removed from the solution so the color of the final product is not spoiled. Second, the...
	46. Within the Titanium Dioxide segment, Venator uses TiO2 to manufacturer both specialty products that sell at a premium for certain end-use applications and a broad range of more common functional products. Venator claims that it has an advantage ov...
	47. At the time of the Offerings, Venator claimed to be one of the six major producers of TiO2, which collectively account for approximately 60% of global TiO2 production capacity. Venator operated eight TiO2 manufacturing facilities that provided it ...
	48. The IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement highlighted Venator’s leading market position and “broad range of innovative chemicals and formulations” which the Company markets “to a diversified group of industrial customers throug...
	49. Until 2017, Venator operated as the Pigments & Additives segment of Huntsman Corp. At that time, Venator was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huntsman Corp. and all of their outstanding shares were owned by Huntsman.
	50. On October 28, 2016, Huntsman Corp., through a subsidiary, filed a Form 10 registration statement with the SEC that contemplated a partial spin-off its Pigments & Additives and Textile Effects segments to Huntsman Corp.’s stockholders. On January ...
	B. THE PORI PLANT FIRE

	51. On January 30, 2017, a fire ravaged Venator’s (then-Huntsman Corp.’s) TiO2 manufacturing plant in Pori, Finland. The Pori Plant was critical to Venator’s business and represented a material portion of the Company’s revenues. The plant had a namepl...
	52. The Pori Plant is comprised of multiple buildings. The main building was primarily responsible for producing TiO2, which was produced by taking raw materials, breaking them down, and adding sulfuric acid. The sulfuric acid would then be removed to...
	53. On the morning of January 30, 2017, the fire began in the area of the Pori Plant’s electrostatic precipitator. This component, which facilitated the breakdown of raw materials to produce TiO2, was located in the main building. The fire then spread...
	54. The interior of the plant was wracked by a series of explosions, as pressure vessels burst due to the extreme heat, and billowing smoke plumes filled the air. Falling pieces of burning metal, plastics, and molten glass fibers seeded destruction on...
	55. The breadth and magnitude of the fire made it extremely difficult to extinguish. By the time firefighters arrived, the blaze had spread and grown in force such that the first attempts to extinguish the fire failed. As reinforcements arrived, the f...
	56. The middle of the factory, where the fire originated, was completely destroyed. Hundreds of tanks and pools critical to the TiO2 production process were damaged, as was the gas scrubber and the electrostatic precipitators on the roof necessary to ...
	57. As a result of the fire, the vast majority of the Pori Plant was essentially destroyed and beyond any economically feasible repairs. Eighty percent of the entire production capacity of the facility had been permanently lost, accounting for more th...
	58. Within days after the fire, Huntsman Corp. personnel and representatives of the insurance companies that had underwritten the policies applicable to the disaster arrived on scene to survey the damage. Over the course of the ensuing weeks and month...
	59. After the fire, Huntsman Corp. failed to disclose the true extent of the damage or the fact that the Pori Plant had largely been destroyed. Instead, on January 31, 2017, it issued a press release stating that the “fire brigade responded quickly an...
	Pori has a capacity of 130,000 metric tons, which represents approximately 15% of Huntsman’s total titanium dioxide capacity and approximately 10% of total European demand. The site is insured for property damage as well as earnings losses. Huntsman i...
	60. Shortly thereafter, in April 2017, Huntsman Corp. announced that it had reorganized its separation from Venator as an initial public offering of shares, rather than a tax-free spin-off. As a result, the shares would not be distributed to existing ...
	C. DEFENDANTS CONDUCT THE IPO

	61. On May 5, 2017, Venator filed a registration statement for the IPO on Form S-1, which, after several amendments, was declared effective on August 2, 2017 (the “IPO Form S-1”). On August 4, 2017—more than six months after the Pori Plant fire—Venato...
	FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE IPO REGISTRATION STATEMENT

	62. The IPO Registration Statement was negligently prepared and, as a result, contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted material facts necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosur...
	63. Specifically, the IPO Registration Statement failed to disclose the true extent of the fire damage to Venator’s Pori Plant, the cost to rehabilitate the facility, the fact that the facility had been largely destroyed (and, as a result, 80% of its ...
	Pori Fire
	On January 30, 2017, our TiO2 manufacturing facility in Pori, Finland experienced fire damage, and it is currently not fully operational. We are committed to repairing the facility as quickly as possible. We expect the Pori facility to restart in phas...
	64. The “Pori Fire” section of the IPO Registration Statement also failed to disclose the full extent of the fire’s impact on the Company by stating that during the same quarter in which the fire occurred the Company only “recorded a loss of $32 milli...
	During the first quarter of 2017, we recorded a loss of $32 million for the write-off of fixed assets and lost inventory in other operating (income) expense, net in our condensed combined statements of operations (without taking into account the insur...
	65. The IPO Registration Statement also indicated that the Pori Plant would be fixed with insurance proceeds within the policy limit. For example, the IPO Registration Statement stated that the “site is insured for property damage as well as business ...
	The site is insured for property damage as well as business interruption losses subject to retained deductibles of $15 million and 60 days, respectively, with a limit of $500 million. The separation agreement provides that Venator will have the benefi...
	On February 9, 2017, we received $54 million as an initial partial progress payment from our insurer. During the first quarter of 2017, we recorded $32 million of income related to insurance recoveries in other operating (income) expense, net in our c...
	66. The IPO Registration Statement also claimed that Venator was “well-positioned to capitalize” on growth opportunities in the TiO2 market. Key to this purported positioning was the Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate production capac...
	Well-Positioned to Capitalize on TiO2 Market Recovery and Growth Opportunities. We believe that our Titanium Dioxide segment is well-positioned to take advantage of an improvement in the TiO2 industry cycle. [TZ Mineral International Pty Ltd. (“TZMI”)...
	67. Similarly, the IPO Registration Statement’s “TiO2 Pricing” section highlighted that Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business was experiencing favorable pricing increases stating, in pertinent part, as follows:
	TiO2 prices steadily improved during 2016. After reaching a trough in the first quarter of 2016, prices have increased for each of the last four quarters. We realized approximately $300 per metric ton improvement in pricing over the course of 2016. Al...
	68. In addition, the IPO Registration Statement claimed that the Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate capacity, which again included full production from the Pori Plant, made it a leader in the TiO2 industry. The IPO Registration Statem...
	Global Producer with Leading Market Positions. We are a leading global producer in many of our key product lines. We are one of the six major producers of TiO2, and we are among the three largest TiO2 producers, with nameplate production capacity of a...
	69. Further, the IPO Registration Statement claimed that the location of its facilities, including the Pori Plant, “enhance[d] relationship” with the Company’s customers because “[t]he location of our facilities allow[ the Company] to be closer to [it...
	Broad Manufacturing Network Enhances Relationships with Global Customers. We maintain a global manufacturing and distribution network that enables us to serve customers worldwide in a timely and efficient manner. Our Titanium Dioxide segment operates ...
	70. The statements in  63-69 were materially false and misleading when made because they failed to disclose the following adverse facts that existed at the time of the IPO:
	(a) that the fire damage at the Pori Plant was far more extensive than disclosed to investors, rendering the facility virtually beyond repair and destroying even plants and equipment outside of the immediate fire zone, critically damaging the facility...
	(b) that the cost to rebuild the Pori Plant exceeded the limits of the Company’s insurance policy applicable to the disaster by hundreds of millions of dollars;
	(c) that the Company was paying rebuilding premiums, and thereby incurring tens of millions of dollars in excessive costs, in a futile attempt to expedite the rehabilitation process;
	(d) that Venator had lost, essentially without prospect of rehabilitation, 80% of the production capacity of the Pori Plant;
	(e) that the Company’s annual TiO2 nameplate capacity as stated in the IPO Registration Statement had been inflated by approximately 104,000 metric tons, or more than 13%;
	(f) that since one of the Company’s primary TiO2 production facilities had been largely destroyed, Venator was not well-positioned to capitalize on the increase in TiO2 prices;
	(g) that, as a result of (a)-(f) above, the Pori Plant could not be economically rebuilt and needed to be abandoned; and
	(h) that the Company needed to incur over $400 million in restructuring expense associated with the closure and replacement of the Pori Plant.

	71. Moreover, Item 303 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii), required Defendants to “[d]escribe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impa...
	72. Indeed, the risk disclosures that were provided in the IPO Registration Statement were themselves materially false and misleading when made. For example, while the IPO Registration Statement represented that the Company “may” experience constructi...
	D. DEFENDANTS CONDUCT THE SPO

	73. On October 27, 2017, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the quarter ended September 30, 2017. The release stated that Venator had experienced favorable operating results during the quarter and provided the following “high...
	74. The release also provided an update on the Pori Plant. While the release stated that costs as a result of the fire were now likely to exceed the $500 million policy limit by $100 to $150 million, it represented that this increased cost estimate wa...
	Due to prevailing strong market conditions, our TiO2 selling prices continue to improve and our business is benefitting from the improved profitability and cash flows. This also has the effect of increasing our insurance claim for lost earnings from ...
	Prior to the fire, 60% of the site capacity produced specialty products which, on average, contributed approximately 75% of the site EBITDA. We are already running at 20% of previous capacity and we intend to restore manufacturing of the balance of t...
	75. That same day, during a conference call to discuss the results, Defendant Ogden stated that the Company’s insurance policy limit of $500 million would be “more than enough to cover the costs of the rebuild on its own,” but a portion of the $500 mi...
	76. On November 27, 2017, Venator filed a registration statement for the SPO on Form S-1, which was declared effective on November 29, 2017 (together with all amendments, the “SPO Form S-1”). On December 1, 2017, Venator filed a prospectus for the SPO...
	FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE SPO REGISTRATION STATEMENT

	77. The SPO Registration Statement was negligently prepared and, as a result, contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted material facts necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading, and failed to make adequate disclosur...
	78. Specifically, like the IPO Registration Statement, the SPO Registration Statement failed to disclose the true extent of the fire damage to Venator’s Pori Plant, the cost to rehabilitate the facility, the fact that the facility had been largely des...
	Pori Fire
	On January 30, 2017, our TiO2 manufacturing facility in Pori, Finland experienced fire damage and we continue to repair the facility. Prior to the fire, 60% of the site capacity produced specialty products which, on average, contributed greater than 7...
	79. The SPO Registration Statement also failed to disclose the extent of the fire’s impact on the Company by stating that, in the nine months since the fire, the Company had only “recorded a loss of $31 million for the write-off of fixed assets and lo...
	We have recorded a loss of $31 million for the write-off of fixed assets and lost inventory in other operating income, net in our condensed consolidated and combined statements of operations for the nine months ending September 30, 2017. In addition, ...
	80. In addition, the SPO Registration Statement represented that the modest increase in estimated costs above the insurance policy limits related to the Pori Plant fire was primarily due to favorable market conditions and increased TiO2 selling prices...
	The site is insured for property damage as well as business interruption losses subject to retained deductibles of $15 million and 60 days, respectively, with an aggregate limit of $500 million. Due to prevailing strong market conditions, our TiO2 sel...
	The fire at our Pori facility did not have a material impact on our 2017 third quarter operating results as losses incurred were offset by insurance proceeds. We received $141 million of non-refundable partial progress payments from our insurer throug...
	81. The SPO Registration Statement also indicated that the Pori Plant would not have a material adverse impact to Venator’s earnings beyond the relatively modest increase in business disruption costs. For example, the SPO Registration Statement stated...
	82. The SPO Registration Statement also continued to represent that Venator was “well-positioned to capitalize” on growth opportunities in the TiO2 market. Key to this purported positioning was the Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate c...
	Well-Positioned to Capitalize on Strength of TiO2 Market and Growth Opportunities. We believe that our Titanium Dioxide segment is well-positioned to take advantage of improvements in the TiO2 industry cycle. TZMI estimates that global TiO2 demand gre...
	83. Similarly, the SPO Registration Statement’s “TiO2 Pricing” section stated that Venator’s Titanium Dioxide business was experiencing favorable pricing, stating, in pertinent part, as follows:
	TiO2 prices steadily improved during 2016. After reaching a trough in the first quarter of 2016, prices have increased for each of the last six quarters. We realized approximately $300 per metric ton improvement in pricing over the course of 2016. Alt...
	84. In addition, the SPO Registration Statement claimed that the Company’s “782,000 metric tons” of annual nameplate capacity, which again included full production from the Pori Plant, made it a leader in the TiO2 industry. The SPO Registration Statem...
	Global Producer with Leading Market Positions. We are a leading global producer in many of our key product lines. We are one of the six major producers of TiO2, and we are among the three largest TiO2 producers, with nameplate production capacity of a...
	85. Further the SPO Registration Statement claimed that the location of its facilities, including the Pori Plant, “enhance[d] relationships” with the Company’s customers because “[t]he location of [the Company’s] facilities allow[ed it] to be closer t...
	Broad Manufacturing Network Enhances Relationships with Global Customers. We maintain a global manufacturing and distribution network that enables us to serve customers worldwide in a timely and efficient manner. Our Titanium Dioxide segment operates ...
	86. The statements in  78-85 were materially false and misleading when made because they failed to disclose the following adverse facts that existed at the time of the SPO:
	(a) that the fire damage at the Pori Plant was far more extensive than disclosed to investors, rendering the facility virtually beyond repair and destroying even plants and equipment outside of the immediate fire zone, critically damaging the facility...
	(b) that the cost to rebuild the Pori Plant exceeded the limits of the Company’s insurance policy applicable to the disaster by hundreds of millions of dollars;
	(c) that Company was paying rebuilding premiums, and thereby incurring tens of millions of dollars in excessive costs, in a futile attempt to expedite the rehabilitation process;
	(d) that Venator had lost, essentially without prospect of rehabilitation, 80% of the production capacity of the Pori Plant;
	(e) that the Company’s annual TiO2 nameplate capacity had been inflated by approximately 104,000 metric tons, or more than 13%;
	(f) that since one of the Company’s primary TiO2 production facilities had been largely destroyed, Venator was not well-positioned to capitalize on the increase in TiO2 prices;
	(g) that, as a result of (a)-(f) above, the Pori Plant could not be economically rebuilt and needed to be abandoned; and
	(h) that the Company needed to incur over $400 million in restructuring expense associated with the closure and replacement of the Pori Plant.

	87. Moreover, the failure of the SPO Registration Statement to disclose the true extent of the fire damage at the Pori Plant and that the facility needed to be abandoned and replaced violated 17 C.F.R. §229.303(a)(3)(ii), because these undisclosed fac...
	88. Indeed, the risk disclosures that were provided in the SPO Registration Statement were themselves materially false and misleading when made. For example, the SPO Registration Statement represented that the Company “may” experience construction del...
	E. EVENTS FOLLOWING THE SPO

	89. On February 23, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the quarter ended December 31, 2017—the same quarter during which Defendants had conducted the SPO. The press release stated that the cost estimates to rebuild the ...
	90. On the earnings call to discuss these results, CEO Turner stated that a significant portion of the Company’s profitable specialty business was heavily impacted by the fire:
	Okay. And just going back to the cost estimates for the Pori restart sort of range of $325 million to $375 million, versus $100 million to $150 million buyer. You noted that, part of it was due to the fast—track premium, but I don’t think you’ve chang...
	Okay. So from the first part of your question here. I think, I said earlier in response to the first question from David that, as we see it, the specialty portion of the 60% rebuild that we are going at a fast pace to restore, in which we are on pace,...
	91. On May 1, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2018. The release stated that the production capacity had essentially not improved at the Pori Plant at all since the IPO, as the facility was...
	92. On the Company’s Q1 2018 earnings call, Defendant Turner, Venator’s CEO, acknowledged that the actual extent of the damage and cost to rebuild involved “new information” that had not been provided in the IPO Registration Statement or SPO Registrat...
	I think it’s important to note, as we stated, it’s a complex project. It requires a lot of attention. We have said for a while that this was a fire in the center of the plant, it requires a lot of reconstruction in close quarters, there’s some shared ...
	93. On July 31, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the quarter ended June 30, 2018. The release discussed “strategic developments” at the Pori Plant, which acknowledged that the fire damage was far more extensive than p...
	Earlier this year we took steps to strengthen our Pori, Finland, project resources and improve our probability of success. Within the past few months, we engaged additional outside experts and hired and re-allocated additional internal resources for t...
	94. On Venator’s related earnings call, Defendant Turner again acknowledged that the true extent of the fire damage and cost of the rebuild had not been previously disclosed:
	Turning now to our TiO2 facility in Pori, Finland. Earlier this year, we took steps to strengthen our project resources and improve our probability of success. Within the past few months, we engaged additional outside experts and higher than reallocat...
	95. On September 12, 2018, Venator issued a release announcing that the Company was abandoning the Pori Plant. At the time, the facility was only operating at 20% capacity, meaning that production capacity at the facility had still not increased by an...
	96. Moreover, Venator stated it would incur $130 million in costs to wind down prior construction activity, $150 million in CapEx spending to transfer production from the Pori Plant and strengthen Venator’s existing sulfate network, and another $150 m...
	97. During an investor conference call to discuss the closure of the Pori Plant, Defendant Turner reaffirmed this timeline. When asked by an analyst whether Venator had provided a “misestimate of the initial amount of damage from the fire” and whether...
	98. On October 30, 2018, Venator issued a release providing its financial results for the quarter ended June 30, 2018. The release stated that the Company had incurred a restructuring expense related to the Pori Plant of $415 million during the quarte...
	99. On December 14, 2018, Venator filed a business update on Form 8-K. The release stated that the Company’s Vice President of Color Pigments, Jan Buberl, had resigned. The release further stated that Buberl would not be replaced, and that two additio...
	100. By December 17, 2018, the price of Venator shares had fallen to $3.65 per share, 82% below the price at which Venator shares had been sold to investors in the IPO and 84% below the price at which Venator shares had been to investors sold in the SPO.
	CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
	101. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of all persons who purchased Venator ordinary shares in or traceable to the Company’s IPO and/or in the SPO (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants and their families, the off...
	102. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. Venator shares are actively traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol “VNTR” and millions of shares were sold in the IPO and the SPO. While the exact number o...
	103. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law that is complained of herein.
	104. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.
	105. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are:
	(a) whether Defendants violated the Securities Act;
	(b) whether the IPO Registration Statement and SPO Registration Statement contained inaccurate statements of fact and omitted material information required to be stated therein; and
	(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper measure of damages.

	106. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relativel...
	FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION For Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act (Against Venator, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter Defendants)

	107. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation above as if fully set forth herein.
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